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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Strategic report _31 Decembar 2022

STRATEGIC REPORT
The Diractors present their Stratogic Report for the year ended 31 December 2022,

Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd. ("Bakelite Synthetics”™ or the "Company’} is a Private Limited Company having its legal seat in
the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office of the Company is Sully Moors Road, Sully, Penarth, Wales,
CHB4 5YU. 1he registerad number of the Company 8 12936558, [ he Company was Incorporated under the
Companies Act 2006 as a private company, the Company is limited by shares, and registered in England and Wales.
The Company was formmed on 7 October 2020 with the express purpose of entering into an acquisition of Haxion
inc.'s Phenolic Specialty Resins, Hexamine and European based Forest Products Resins businesses (collectively,
the ‘PSR Business’). The Company did not have any substantive operating activities untl the acquisition of the PSR
Business on 30 Apnil 2021. The shares of Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd. are held and managed by Black Diamond Capital
Management LLC and Investindustrial Investment Holdings S.ar.l.

The consolidated and company financial statements are presented in United States Daollar, which is the Company's
functional and presentational currency.

The Group of which the Company 1s the parent is a leading producer of Phenol, Urea & Melamine resins, Aromatic
Polyols, Molding Compounds and Formaldehyde based thermosetting resins and formalin solutions & Derivatives.
The wide range of phenolic, urea and melamine resins add strength, durability and fire resistance to countless
matenals in the Bulding, Construction and Transportation sector, several Industnal applications, Chemical
intermediates and Specialties. Rescnance™ aromatic polyols are building blocks that improve fire resistance,
insulation perfermance and production efficiency of PUR and PIR foams. The engineerad thermosets are used
across a number of industnes including building materiats. automnotive, industrial, electronics and more. The Group
offers a robust portfolio of formaldehyde and derivative products as wetl as the ability to tailor grades to spedalised
needs.

The Group develops tailor made solutions to help customers meet their sustainability goals. The products are widely
used to turn renewable raw materials such as wood into highly angineered products and facilitate the transition
towards a carbon neutral economy by providing technical solutions far the energy conservation in Building and
Coanstruction and in the Transport sector.

The Group's preduction and distribution operations are located in Barry, United Kingdom; Cowie, United Kingdorm;
{.antaron, Spain. Botlek, Netherands; Iserlohn, Germany: Frielendorf, Germany; Solbiate, Haly; Kitee, Finland,
Louisville, Kentucky, Acme, North Carglina; and in Russia through the Greup's 50% ownership interest in Bakelite
Schekincazot Holding B.V. (the “Russia JV7), a joint venture that manufactures forest products resins.

Through the acquisition of Georgia-Pacific’s Phenclics Chemicals Business referred to below, the Company acquired
the following operating facilities: North America (Conway, North Carolina; Columbus, Ohio; Beaver Creek, Michigan;
Taylorsville, Mississippi, Crossett, Arkansas; Lufkin, Texas; Albany, Oregon and Eugene, Oregon), two aperating
facilities in South America (Concepcion, Chile and Concordia, Argentina) and a research and development center in
Atlanta, Georgia.

Acquisition of Georgia-Pacific's Chemicals Business

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered intc an acquisition via an equity purchase agreement acquinng Georgia-
Pacific’s Chemicals Business from Georgia-Pacific, (the "seller’) in exchange for the purchase price, The acquistion-
date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $4 18,720,000 in cash, including a closing working capital
setilement of $2,960,000 that was received from the seller in January 2023,

The purchase price was funded by additional equity funding of $138,000,000 into the Company by Black Diamond

Capitat Management, LLC and Investindustrial investment Holdings S.a.r.|. and proceeds from borrowings under an
Initial Term loan of $485,000,000. These funds were aiso used to pay off the existing debt. The acquisition of
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.
Strategic report (continued) o 31 December 2022

Georgia-Pacific’'s Chemicals Business was accounted for as a business combinahon using the purchase accounting
method. The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on lhe astimated fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Review of the business

The income statement reported an operating loss of $33,048,000 {2021 $25.035,000) This was mainly due to the
acquisition related costs of $20,836,000 (2021: $23,163,000} and the start up cost of $13,232,000 (2021
$10,629,000). Glcbai markets have significant headwinds that have entered into recessionary conditions. The Group
was faced with inflationary pressure and market softness in the Industrial and Automotive segments, The Group has
aclively increased sales prices for contract and non-contract customers. The demand in the Building & Construction
segment softened globally. The share of the Formaldehyde & Hexamine business increased in 2022, mainly due to
the acquisition of Georgia Pacific. The demand in the Industrial and Applications and Transportation segment were
still below pre-Covid levels. The Chemical Intermediates segment was impacted by softening in the Farmaldehyde
demand and reduced imports intc Asia Pacific due to the strong USD.

The markets remained strong, but volumes continued to show some softness due to supply disruptions at customers
for other raw materials with the automotive and foundry segments impacted the most We were faced with significant
macroeconomic inflation (Wilities, gas, carbon, etc.), particularly in Europe. The demand in the market showed some
softening in December due to the uncertainties in the EU and North America markets.

In the building materials segment the fumiture, cabinet and flooring manufacturers have returned to full production
rates. The repair and remodeling trend is strong. EU regulations have supported invastments to improve energy
efficiencies in housing. The Group has also seen increased nterest rates to reduce the inflation.

The Industrial Application segment showed recoveries by sub-segment from the COVID-19 disruptions. The steel
market is still lagging due to the capacity constraints, but recovery continues. The Transportation segment showed
supply chain disruptions muting the higher than expected demana and refilling of channel supply chain. We have
seen minimal market impact from COVID-19 in the Chemical Intermediates segment. The demand for methylene
diphenyl diisocyanate remained strong in the EU. The specialty demand for etectronics improved.

We recognise that effective risk management is #ssential to the successful delivery of the Group's strategy. As we
continue to grow our business we believe it is imporiant to develop and enhance our 1isk management processes and
control environment on an ongoing basis and ensure it remains fit for purpose. We continue to mature our approach
to identifying and managing risks across the Group in a consistent and robust manner.

Below we describe our risk management approach, the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and the
controls in place to manage them.

Risk management and control

Management have overall responsibitity for the internal controls system and its effectiveness, which is reported to the
Board of Directors on a regular basis. The Group's intemal controls system is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve its objectives and the system can therefore only provide reasonable assurance
against any material misstatement or loss of Group assets. The Group's internal controls system aims to ensure all its
activilies are operated in a controlled manner to safeguard the assets and comply with ail its polficies and procedures
and legisiation.

The Executive Board members also conduct a strategic risk identification and assessment exercise to identify risks,
inciuding those that could impact the business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. This risk information
is combined with a consolidaled view of the business area risks. The Board has the overall accountability for ensuring
that risk is effectively managed across the Group and therefore ensuring that it is comfortable with the nature and
extent of the principal risks faced in achieving its strategic objectives.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Stratagic report (continued) L 31 December 2022

Principal risks and uncertaintias

Set out below are the principal and emerging risks which we believe could materiafly affect the Group's ability to
achveve its financial and operating objectives and control ar mitigating activites adopted to manage them. The risks
are not listed in order of significance.

Pohtical nsk

The economic and business environment has changed dramatically in Europe as a result of Russia’s invasion of
Ukraine. Financiai markets and suppiy chain networks have all been impacted by new regulations. These
developments continue to evolve rapidly requiring constant momtenng to enable us to act quickly.

Fram a supply chain and commercial perspective, the Group is 1n regular contact with suppliers and customers to
proactively address any challenges that arise. As trading regulations are updated, we are wvigilant in complying with all
international and domestic requirements. The Group is firmly committed o a culture of compliance.

Due to the carrent climate of uncertainty, many companies are reviewing thelr business relationship with Russian
entiies. The Group has a long and successful history with group partners in Russia that the Group fully expects to
continue. Going forward, the Group will continue to gather information and review the guidance from governments
and regulatory agencies to ensurg the Group takes action that support associates, customers and key stakeholders.

Supply chain continuify

The Group relies on long-term agreements with key suppliers for most of its raw materials. The loss of a key source
of supply or a delay in shipments could have an adverse effect on its business. Should any of the suppliers fail to
deliver or should any of the key lnng-term supply contracts be cancelled, the Group would be forced to purchase raw
materials at current market prices.

The Group maintains a close dialogue with key suppliers and closely monitors its inventary status and customer
demand to ensure that any problems with the supply chamn can be managed, and back up sources of supply are
maintained where possible.

Creadit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to concentratians of credit risk are primarily accounts
receivable. Concentralions of credit risk for accounts receivable are limited due to the large number of customers in
the Group's customer base and their dispersion across many different industries and geographies. The Group
generally does not require collateral or other security to support customer receivables.

inteffectual property isk

The Group develops new products in its research and development facilities. The ability to compete effectively with
other companies depends on its ability to protect its intellectual property. This is done by maintaining patents to
provide protection for the Group’s intellectual property rights against third parties and to expleit its products The
absence of any such patents may have a material adverse effect on the Group's ability to develop its business. The
Group mitigates this risk by developing products where legal advice Indicates patent protection would be available,
seeking patent protection for the Group's products.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group and Company’s presentational currency is the US doliar although the Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily between GBP, CLP, ARS,
USD and the Euro, such that the Group's cash flows are affected by fluctuations in the rate of exchange between
USD and the aforementioned foreign currencies Fluctuations in exchange rates between the Group’s functional
currency of the US Dollar and the currency of the overseas operalions could adversely impact the financial resuits. In
mast cases the Group matches the currency receipts and expenditure of the overseas operations.

The Company acquired a subsidiary in Argentina through the acquisition of Georgia-Pacific’'s Phenclics chemical
business. During 2018, Argentina became a high inflationary economy. As of the acquisition date 27 May 2022, the
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

$Strategic report (continued) 31 December 2022

functional currency of its Argentinian operatons is the US Dollar (*USD") instead of the Argentine Peso ("ARS"). The
resulting foreign exehange loss fram remeasuring the manetary assets and liabilites denaminated in ARS to USD
reported i the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income was $2 848,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022,

Markst nsk

Market risk anises from the Group's use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial instruments. It is
the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest
rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors {other price risk).

interest rate nisk

The Group is expased to cash flow interest rate nsk from long-term barrowings at vanable rate. it #s curcently group
policy that group borrowings {excluding short-term pverdraft facilities and {ease fiabilities) are fixed rate borrowings,
This pelicy is managed centrally. Although the board accepts that this policy neithar protects the Group entirely from
the nsk of paying rates in excess of current market rates nor eliminates fully cash fiow nsk associated with variability
in interest payments, it congiders that it achieves an appropriate balance of exposure to these risks.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is perfermed in the individuai operating entities of the Group and is aggregated by Group
finance. Group finance monitors cash and cash flow forecasts ang it is the Group and Company's liquidity nsk
management policy to maintain sufficient cash and available funding through an adequate amount of cash and cash
equivalents and committed credit facilities from its bankers. Due to the dynamic nature of the underfying businesses,
the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient cash and cash equivalents available to fund the
requirements of the Group and Company.

Financial reporting and disclosure

The Group is required to report accurate financial information 1n compliance with accounting standards and applicabie
legislation. This risk is mitigated through the Group's internal controls over the financial information and reporting,
overseen by the local financial heads and then reviewed by the central finance team, including the Chief Financial
Officer. The annual financial statements are also subject to audit by the Group's external auditors.

Cyber secunty risk

The Group has locations all over the world. To facilitate the activities between locations the group uses computer
systems in #s operations. The Group is therefore exposed to attacks through hacking, phishing or other methods.
This risk is mitigated by the use of secunty measures, staff training, and back-up systems. Formal procedures are in
place where necessary. The Group also has speafic insurance cover.

Review of strategy and business modet
Tna strategy of Bakelite Synthetics is to create exceptional value for customers, to operate in a safe, sustainable and
responsible manner for associates and communties, delvering outstanding returns for investors. The Group follows
this strategy using the following vision:
~  We {ook for apportunities to incorporate renewable raw materials.
We strive to reduce the use of raw materials that may restrict the recyciing of our cuslomers products.
- We strive to work with local suppliers wherever possible
- We have sites that are certified to 13O 9001, 14001, 45001 and 50001 standards; we contmue to push for the
same at all sites.
- Many of our downstream partners ara certifying to cutting edge certification programs.

The Board of Directors reviews the Group's financial performance by comparing to the budget which it establishes at
the beginning of each financial year. Dur praducts are sold through our netwark of sales manager and sales
representatives. We manufacture all of our products. We have producticn facilities in the USA, the UK, Germany, the
Netherlands, Spain, ftaly, Finland and Russia through our joint venture partner. Through the acquisition of Geargia-
Pacific’s Phenolics Chemicats Business the Company acquired the following oparating faciitias North America
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

_Strategic report {tontinued) _ ) 31 Decembar 2022

(Conway, North Carohna, Columbus, Ohio, Beaver Creek, Michigan; Taylorsvile, Mississippi; Crossett, Arkansas,
Lufkin, Texas, Albany, Oregon and Eugene, Qregon), two operating facitities in South America (Concepcion, Chile
and Concordia, Argentina) and a research and development center in Atlanta, Georgia.

Future outlook

The starl of 2023 has bewn positve with EBITDA exceeding budget and prior year driven by synergies. The decrease
in volumes which we have seen in December can take significantly different directions depending on United States
and Eurcpean econormies The Group also needs to overcome volatility in Raw materials & Utiliies and recessionary
markat conditions in Europe and North America. This is done by continuous cost and pricing action o stay ahead of
market slowdown. The Group plans to create vaiue by executing on the integration and synergies through exiting the
transactional service agreement with Georgia Pacific The synergies that come out of this is named ONEBakelite,

Keay Performance Indicators (KPis)
The key financiat performance indicators cusrently used acrass the Group are volumes, revenue, gross profit,
adjusted EBITDA, net working capital and net financial position.

Volumes (mT)

Volumes have decreased compared to the budget with 14% to 1,114,000 mT. Compared to last period volumes have
decreased with 10%. This was mainly caused by a decrease in orders in December Customers started to destock
their inventory causing lower orders for the Group.

Raventie
The Group reported a revenue of $1,285.226,000 (2021: $516,114,000) over the year. The increase was mainly
related 1o the revenue that the acquisition of Geargia Pacific contributed to the Group which was $4981,417 000.

Gross profit
The gross profit which is defined as the revenue less the cost of sales was $151,072,000 (2021: $51,857,000).

Adjusted EBITDA

The Group defines adjusted EBITDA as the eamings before interest. tax, depreciation and amortisation adjusted by
one off items such as acquisition costs. Adjusled EBITDA as reported was $60,502,000 (2021. $30,648,000} which
was above budgetl.

The fallowing table shows the reconciliation of adusted EBITDA

2022 2021
$000 §'000
Adjusted EBITDA
Operating loss (33,048} (25,035)
Adjusted items
Depreciation and amorksation 54,360 18,143
Acquisdion related expenses 20,835 23,163
Start-up costs associated with the set-up of Bakelite Synthetics 13,232 10,639
Restructuring expenses L ) . B123 3738
Adjusted EBITDA 60,502 30,648

MNet assets were $212,053. 000 at 31 December 2022 (2021, $130,236,000).

Nst working capital

Net working capital is defined as current assels less current habilities, At 31 December 2022, the Group reported a
net working capital of $143 835 000 (2021 $60.862,000) The Group has sufficient funds to cover its short term
liabihties.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Strategic report {continued) 31 December 2022

Net financiaf pasition

Net financial position is defined as the sum of current and non-current bank borrowings, short. medium and long-term
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents held in hand and at the bank. At 31 December 2022 the Group reported
a net financial position of $484,708,000 payable {2021 $159,573,000).

The key non-financial performance indicators are the Environmental Health and Safety metrics.

Sevare Incident Factor (SIF)
We monitor our envirenmental health and safety through 3 management system. One of the key performance
indicators is serious injury and fatality (SIF). In the year under review we recorded 1 SIF incidents (2021 1)

Racordable Incidents (OIIR)
Our occupationat injury and illness rate (OIIR) was .48 (2021 0.22). OMR is calculated by dividing the number of
recordable injuries and/or ilinesses with the total numbers of hours worked by all employees.

Process Safely Incidents-Tier 1

The process safety events of greatest consequence indicate mulitiple barrier or protection layer system weaknesses.
In 2022 we had Z incidents (2021: 0}.

Process Safely incidents-Tier 2

The count of Tier 2 process safety incidents represents evenis of lesser consequence. In 2022 we had 4 incidents
(2621 7}

Permit Exceedances
The number of air and waste permit exceedances were 4 in 2022 {2021: 1).

Environment

We are committed to environmental health and safety exceffence throughout our worldwide operations as a means of
living up to our social responsibilites and buiiding the value of our businesses. We pledge to work in a sustainable
manner teward the vision of no acgidents orinjuries and  ptimizing impact to our envircnment.

The Group is commilted to providing a safe and secure workglace. We believe that safety is everyone’'s responsibility.
Everyone s expected to immediately report incidents, injuries and unsafe conditions. The goal is simple, we want
everyone to go home the same way they came to work.

The Group understands its responsibility to act as a good steward to our envronment and the communities in which
we operate. We strive to conserve our natural resources and assure safe handling of hazardous materials by
reducing their use where practical. The Group works to meet or exceed environmental laws and reguiations and we
consiger the Environmental, heaith and safety (EH&S) risks associated with new acauisitions, products and
operations, We are committed to the principles of Responsible Care®. We embrace product stewardship by providing
our distributors and customers with information necessary.

Mutual respect

The Group believes in the creation of a respectful and fnendly work environment. We hold ourselves to a higher
professional standard and treat one ancther with dignity and respec!. W embrace and respect our assaociates’
different backgrounds, cultures, experiences and apinions. We beiieve our diversity makes us mare competitive and
stronger in the global marketplace. We are an Equal Opportunity, Affirmative Action employer. We never make
employment decisions based on a person's gender, munority stalus, sexual orientation, gender 1dentity, protected
veteran status, status as a qualified individual with a disability or any characteristic protected by law. We make an
affirmative effort to consider candidates that are reflective of today's workforce. We make hiring and promational
decisions based on qualifications and performance.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Strategic report (continued) 31 Decembaer 2022

We beilieves all associates have the right to expect a workplace free from discrimination, harassment, bullying or
abrasive behaviour. Harassment can be described as any unweicome behaviour that creates an intimidating. hostile
or offensive work environment. This includes sexual harassment or behaviour that consists of unwelcome sexual
advances, request for sexual favours or other verbal, written, emotional ar physical actions of a sexual nature towards
another associate. We do not tolerate harassment of our associates of any kind. Associates are encouragert tn speak
out and report any behaviour that makes tham uncomfortable vt that they believe is inconsistent with our Mutual
Hespect Policy. We dao not tolerate retaliation against those who report concems in goeod faith. For more information
about our commitment to a work place free of unlawful retaliation, go to Bakelite Synthetics' Non-Retaliation Policy,

Respecting human rights

Respect for fundamental human rights is at the core of our operational philosophy. Any form of forced or invaluntary
labour, including child labour, slavery or human trafficking by the Group is not acceptable or permitted. In addition,
The Group expects third parties acting on our behalf to comply with applicable (izbour) laws and demonstrate respect
for kuman rights.

Section 172 Statement
The Directors are required by the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most
likely to promote success of the Group for the benefit of ils shareholders as a whole and in doing so are required to
have regard for the following:
- the likely long term consequences of any decision;
- the interests of the Group's employees;
- the need to foster the Group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
~ the impact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment,
the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduc!, and the need to acl
fairly as between sharehaolders of the Group.
Ethics and Inlegrity are core values at Bakelile Synthetics. This means that we da the right thing, we say what we
mean and we do what we say. We are our word. To live thase core values, we have developed a comprehensive
compliance pragram that supports and enhances our business. The cornerstone of our program is Bakelite
Synthetics” Code of Conduct (‘“CoC"). This compliance program descrbes the dasire of the Group to carry out its
business in accordance with the highest ethical standards,

The Group has in place a contrals framework o ensure the proper functioning of the CoC. This is overseen by the
Audit Commitiee,

Stakeholders

The Board considers its major stakeholders to be its employees, its suppliers, customers, community and
shareholders. When making decisions, the interests of these stakeholders is considered informally as part of the
Board's group discussions.

Employees

The Board has a good relaticnship with the Graup’s employeas. The Beard maintains constructive dialogue with
employees through the Executive Directors. Appropriate remunaration and incentive schemes including bonuses and
commissions are maintained to align employees’ objectives with those of the Group. The Group reguiarly discusses
progress both lacally and at group level with employees in “town hall® style meetings, allowing opportunities to
exchange views and for employees to have a say. The Group has an open, flexible, and entrepreneurial culture which
has allowed the Group to be flexible and responsive to customer needs. The Board monitors, assesses, and
promoles the Group's corporate culture through discussions with management and employees and through the use
of appropriate measures.

Disabled employees

The Group supports applications for employment by disabled persons. Considenng the specific aptitudes of the
applicant, the Group has the policy to provide training and support career developments in line with that of other
employees.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Strategic teport (continued) o ‘ 31 December 2022

Buppliers

The Board ensures that the Group endeavours te maintain good relationships with its suppliers by contracting on
reasonabie business terms and paying them promptly, within agreed terms. We meet with our significant suppliers
regularly and where required audit their activities to ensure that materials are deliverad affectively in & timely and cost
efficient manner. We frequently offer longer term contracts o provide stability to their business in return for cost
savings. These principles ensure that the Group's and our signlficant suppliers’ interests are aligned.

Customers

The Executive Directors meet major customars regulary and encourage a dialogue with them and with the Regional

Sales Management team as appropriate. The Board receives regular reporis on progress with customer relationships
ta ensure that their decision making takes mnto account the needs of our customer base. Key Perfarmance indicators

are used internally fo ensure we are responding to customer needs.

Community
The Board believes that the Group has an impact on the commurities and environments within which it operates. The
Board ptimizing that the Group has a duty to be a good corporate  plimiz and is conscious that ds business

processes ptmizi ham to the environment, and that it contnbutes as far as is practicable to the tocal communities in
which it cperates.

Sharsholdars

The Group has two shareholders, Biack Diamond Capital Management, LLC and Investindusttial Investment Holdings
S.ar.l The Board has a dialogue with the Executive Chairman, appointed by the Shareholders. Perindically the
Board has meetings with the Shareholders to discuss the Group's activities, strategy and future prospects.

The Board  ptimizing the impartanca of maintaining high standards of business conduct. The Group operates
appropriate policias on business ethics and provides mechanisms for whistie blowing and complaints. The Board has
established the following policies this year that details the way we operate. Acceptable use policy, Aniti-bribery policy,
Antitrust and competition policy, Confiict of nterest policy, Gifts and entertainment policy, insider trading policy,
Mutual respect palicy, Non-retaliation policy.

Principal dacisions taken by the Board during the year

During the year, the Board has taken the foitowing principal decisions
Approval Sharehslders Agreement and New Aricles

- Approval subscrption for new ordinary shares retated to the funding for Geargia Pacific acquisition.
Approval of directars changes (resignation of Federico Fasciolo and appointment of Jeff Feinberg).

- Approval of resignation of diractor (Federico Fasciolo).

- Approval of consent to act as director by Jeff Feinberg.

-~ Adoption of the annual accounts.

The Strategic Repori was approved by the Board on 22 Saptember 2023 and signed cn its behalf by

Russell Taylor
Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 September 2023.

Ragisterad office. Sully Mcors Road, Sully, Penarth, Wales, CF84 5YU.

Page 10 of 79



Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Directors’ report 31 Decembar 2022

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting this report together with the audited consolidated and company financial
statements of Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd. For the year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022,

Dividends
There were no dividend distributions during the year

Political donations
There were no political donations during the year.

Financial Instrumants and Risk Management
Financial isk Management is discussed in note 34 and in the Strategic report

Events after the statement of financial position date
Events after the statement of financial position date are described 1 note 33 and in the Strategic report.

Directors of the Company
The directors of the Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements
were.

Name Country of residence Appointediresignad

Roberto Ardagna United Kingdom Appoited 30 Apnil 2021

Jeft Mitchell Feinberg United States Appo nted 23 May 2022

Peter Frank United States Appo nted 11 December 2020

Valentina Petrilio United Kingdom Appo:ntad 30 Apnl 2021

Ritesh Rajnikant Tanna United States Appo'nted 11 Dacember 2020

Russell Taylor tInited States Appointed 30 April 2021

Federico Andrea Fasciolo Switzerdand Appointed 7 October 2020, resigned 23 May 2022
John Stokes Gaithar United States Appoinied 21 March 2023

Golng Concem

These financial statements have been preparad based on the going concern assumption. The Company has evaluated
internal budgets and financial results which show, taking into account reasonably plausible changes in financial
performance, that the Group and Company will be able to operate within the level of its current funding arrangements
for the foreseeable future, being a penod of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of these Consolidated and Comnpany financial statements confirm
that so far as they are aware, thare is no relevant audnr information of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and
each director has taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant
auditinformation and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors
PricewaternouseCoopers LLP were re-appointed as independent auditors during the caurse of the year.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Directors' report {continued) 31 December 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report (“SECR")
Qn 1 April 2019, the Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Uiability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report}
Regulations 2018 came into force. This covers all sources of the Company's greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in
accordance with the requirements of these regulations. The methodelogy for calcuiating GHG emissions is based on
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard develaped by the World Resaurces
Institute and World Business Counoil for Sustainable Devealopment. All conversion factors have been spurced from
plimizing public sources, including the UK's Department for business, energy and industrial strategy, the international
Energy Agency and the GHG protocol’s stationary combustion tool.

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh):

2022 2021
Electricity (kWh} 13,033,506 6,705,884
Natural Gas (kvvh) 10,119,183 8,731,842
Transport {diesel) 130,564 77,493
Transport {patrol 18,430 2,968
Total 23 302,083 18,518 187
Production (Te) 134,833 104,806
Emissions in resin tornines COze:
2022 2021
Scope 1 (Al other fuels) 1,884 1618
Scope 2 {Electricity) 2,520 2,061
Total gross tonnes COze 4,404 3,680
Gross tonnes COze per tonne production 0.033 .035

The above figures refate to the LK based operations of the Group ihal are covered by the Regulations.

Sustathability

The Group is committed to "Respensible Care™ as part of the Group's ongoing strategy. The Group's climate change
policy states

Bakelite Synthetics strives to protect agamst climate change throughout the business lifecyde by efficiently using
natural resources, ptimizing existing processes and enhancing products and technologies through continuous
innovation. This focus increases stakeholder vaiua by improving the use of resources, reducing greenhouse gas
emissions engaging cur employees, decreasing operating costs and supporting our customers’ sustainability goals.

The solutons required by our valued customers and the world in which we live increasingly call for new products that
have more sustainable attributes. In response, the Group is continually focused on creating enabling technologies that
make everyday life more sustainable.

For the Group, sustainability represents our commitment to being good stewards for our people and the ptanet through
innovative products and processes. As part of this commitment, the Group is continually developing comprehensive
giobal Environmenial Health & Safely standards and initiatives that are designed lo maintain our safe operations and
protect our environment. We have a strong history of diiving impfovements in our use of energy.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Directors’ report (continued) 31 Decamber 2022

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respoct of the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the consolidated and company financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under {hat law the directors
have prepared the group and the company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companhies reporting
under lhuse slandards. The UK-adopled International Accounting Standards have been consistently applied throughout
all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that year. In
preparing the financial stalements, the directors are required to

- Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:

— State whether applicable UK-adopted Inlernationai Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent, and

- Prepare the financial statements on the going concern dasis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
group's and company's fransactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company's website. Legisiation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial stataments may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity for the benefit of each Director of the Company in respect of
liabilities to which they may become liable in their capacity as Director of the Company and of any Gompany in the
Group. Thoss indemnities are qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the purposes of Section 234 of the

Companies Act 2006 and have been in force during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of approval of the
financial staterments.

The Report of the Directors was approved by the Board on 22 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by

fussel C Tagion |Sop 05, zo% 54 36 £OT)

Russell Taylor
Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 Seplember 2023,

Registered office’ Sully Mcors Road. Sully, Penarth, Wales, CF64 S5YU
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Independent auditors’ report 31 December 2022

Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Bakelite UK TopCo Lid.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In aur opinion, Bakelite UK TopGCo Ltd's group financial statements and company financial stalements (the “financial
statemants®);

« give atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the group's
loss and the group’s and company's cash flows for the year then ended,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted intemational accounting standards as appled »n accordance
with the provisions of the Comparnes Act 2006; and

« hava been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Wa have audiled the Enancial stalemants included within the Consolidated and Company Financial Slatements {the “Annual
Report’), which comprise: Consolidated and Company Statemenlts of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022,
Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, Company Statement of Changes in Equity, Consclidated and Company Cash Flow Statements for the year then ended;
and the notes to the financial statements, which include a descnption of the significant aceounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accondance with Intemational Standards on Auddting {UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and appticable law. Qur
responsibiliies under 1SAs (UKQ are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

section of our report. We believe thal the audit evidence wa have cblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
ouf opinion,

independence

We remainad independent of the group in accordance with thae ethical requiremants that are relevant ta our audit of the
financial statements in the UK which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfited our other ethical
responsibifities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material unceriainties relating to evants or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company’s ability to continue as a going cancem
for a period of at ieast twetve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

in auditing the financial statemenls, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounbng in the
preparation of the financial statemenls is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is nat a guarantee as lo the group's and
the company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

Our respansibilities and tne responsibilitias of the direciars with respect to going concarn are dascnbad in the relevant sections
of this report.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Independent auditors’ report (continued) 31 December 2022

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion ar, except to the axtent otherwise
explicitly stated in this repont, any form of assurance therean

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infermation and, in doing so
consider whather the athar information is matarially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowiedge cbtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears o be materally misstated. If we identify an apparent material incensistency or matenal
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
staternents or a material misstaternent of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatemant of this other information, we are required 1o report that faci. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilitiea.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we aiso considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2005 have been inckided.

Based on our wark undertaken in the course of the audit. the Companies Act 2006 requires us aiso lo report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Birectors’ Report

In our opinion. based on the work undertaken in the course of the audil, the informatian given in the Strategic mport and
Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 s consisient with the financial slatements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicabie legal requirements

In kght of the knowledge andg understanding of the group and company and the'r environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Repart.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the diractors for the financiatl statements

As explained more fuliy in the Statement of Directors' ragponsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to
continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matlers related to geing concem and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the direclors either infend to liquidate the group or the company or te cease operalions, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ respansibilitias for the audit of the financial statements

Our abjectives are fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether dus {o fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' repert that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
15 a high favel of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 18As (UK] will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can anise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if. indvidually or
in the aggregale. they could reasonably be expected to influence the econom:c decsions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements,

tregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in ne wth

our respansibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respact of imegularities, including fraud The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detacting irregularities, mcluding fraud, is detailed below.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.
Independent auditors’ report (continued) 31 Decamber 2022

Based on cur undersianding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to employment ragulation (inciuding haalth and safety legislation) and environmental protection law, and we
considered the extant to which non-comiplianca might have a materia! effact on the financial stalements. We alsa considered
thuse laws and regulations that have a diract impact on the financisat slatements such as tax legisiation and the UK Companies
Act 2006, We evaluated management's incantivas and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements
(including the risk of override of controls). and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal
entries designad to manipulate the financial results and potentia! managemant bias in accounting estimatas. Audit procedures
performed by the engagament team included:

= Enquiry with managemant and considaration of known of suspected instances of non-campliance with laws and reguiations
and fraud;

+ Review of minuies of meatings of thosa charged with governance;
» Challenging assumplions and judgements made by managemant in their significant accounting astimates;
« |dentifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations.

There are inharent limitations in the audit procedures dascribed above. We are lass likely to become awsre of instances of
non-compliance with laws and regutations that are not closaly related to evenis and transactions reflacted in the financial
atatements, Alsc, the risk of not detacting s matarial migstatement due (o fraud is higher than the risk of not datecting cne
resulling from arror, as fraud may involve deliberate concesiment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or
through coliusion,

A further description ©f our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's weabsita at.
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' repor,

Use of this repont

This report, including the ¢pinicns, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume rasponsibility for any other pumose or 10 any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where exprasaly agread by our prior consant in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companias Act 2006 we are required {0 report to you if, in eur opinion:

= we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for ous audit, or

« adequata accounting records have not been kept by the company, or retums adequate for aur audit have not been
received from branches not visited Dy us; or

» carldin disclosuras of diractors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+ the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting racords and retums.

from this respansibility.

Janathan nd (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopars LLP
Chartarad Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cardiff

25 Seplember 2023
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

‘Consolldated and Company financial statements

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

_31 December 2022

Period from 7 October 2020

Group Note Year ended 31 December 2022 to 31 December 2021
$000 $000 $'000 $000

Revenue 3 1.285.226 516,114

Cost of sales of gocds 4  (1134,154) {454 257)

Groas profit . 81,072 . 61,857

Distribution costs 4 {50,369) (16,580)

Sales, general and administrative expenses 4 (107,207) (47.827)

Acqguisibion related expenses [+ {20.835) (23.163)

Other income 5 3,328 3,424

Other expense 5 19037} {2 748)

Operating loss o 4 {33,048) 125,035}

Non-cperating incoms 5275 -

Fiance income 10 118 4

Finance costs 10 (34,782) {9,.515)

Share of net profit of associates and joint ventures

accounted for using the equity method 18 4674 2,483

Loss before Income tax {57,763} 132,063

income tax expense 11" 1,548 {1.665)

L.oss for the year/period {56,217) {33,728)
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Congolidated and Company financial atatements

31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Period from 7

Year ended 31 October 2020 to 31

Group Decembar 2022 Dacamber 2021
$000 $'000

Loss for the year/period (56,217) (33,728)

Other Comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that may be reclassifiad to profit or loas

Currency translation adjustments net of tax (9,126} (7.767)

items that will not be raclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of post-employment obligations net of fax 7,870 3,33

Other comprehansive income (loss) for the year/period (1,256) (4,436)

Total cﬁérrnrbmlt';r;;ﬁ;lve loss for the yeariperiod (57,473) (38, i'%"«i'{
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

31 December 2022

Consolidated and Company financial statements

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

Assets Note
Group Company Group Company
$000 $000 $000 3000
Non.current assets
Property, plant and equ pment 13 447 570 - 252,931 -
Right-of-use assets 14 12,012 - 6,275 -
Intangible assets 15 135,714 - 32,066 -
Deferred tax assets 24 19,897 - 16,592 -
Other assets 16 7.608 - 8.209 -
Investments 1n subsidianes 17 - 305,900 - 167,800
Investments accounted for using the equity method 18 11,508 I 7123 -
Total noh-current assets 634,309 305,900 317,196 167,900
Current agsets
inventories 18 134,754 - 74,216 -
Other current assets 20 39,093 1,799 17,162 495
Trade recevables 2% 136,448 - 98,151 -
Cash and cash equivalents 22 16,787 - 12,847 4
Total current assets 327,082 1,799 202,376 | 499
Total assets 961,391 307,659 519,572 168,399
Liabllities Note 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Group Company Group =~ Company
$000 $000 3000 3000
Non-current liabllities
Interest bearing loans 23 496,645 - 170,818 -
Lease liabilities 14 8,212 - 4,440 -
Deferred tax liabilities 24 36,565 - 24,751 “
Employee benefit obligations 25 21,592 - 34,142 -
Provisions . . 26 3077 - 13.671 -
Total non-current liabilities _ 566,091 - ... 247822 -
Curmrent fiabilities
Trade and other payabies 27 123,967 - 104,212 -
Other current hiabikties 28 35,668 . 14,721 8
Current lax labitities 830 - 1,996 1
interest bearing loans 23 4,850 1,602 -
Lease habililes 14 3,803 - 1,789 -
Employee benefit obl gatans 25 12,317 - 13,157 -
Pravisions . 26 1,652 - 4,037 -
Total current liabilities 183,247 - 141,514 S
Total liabilities 749,338 - 389,336 9
Net assots 212,053 307,699 130,236 168,390
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Consolidated and Company financial statements

31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Equity ' _____Note 31 Dacomber 2022 31 December 2021
Group Company Group Company

3000 $000 $000 $000

Share capital and share premium 29 306,400 306,400 168,400 168,400
Other reserves 1,290 1,290 - -
Other comprehensive 10ss {5,692) (53) (4,4386) {12)
{Accumulated losses)/retained earnings {89,945) 62 {33,728) 2
Equity 212,053 307,699 130,236 168,390
Total equity 212083 307,699 130,236 168,390

The Caompany has elected {o take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 nol 10 pressent the
Parent Gompany Income Statement. The profit of the Parent Company for the year was $62 000 (2021. $2,000).

Tne financial statements on pages 17 1o 79 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 22

September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

ot © Tagtor fep 25 2D B8 36 17:0)

Russell Taylor

Chairman

Bakelite UK TopCo Litd.
Registered no’ 129365858
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Consolidated and Company financlal statements

31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Other

G Share Share Other comprehensive Accumulated
roup Nota capHal premium reserves loss lossaes Total
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 3000 $'000
Cn incorporation - - - - - -
Issuance of share capital 29 1,958 166,442 - - - 168,400
Net loss for the period - - - - (33,728) {33.728)
Other comgrehensive joss - - - {4,438) - (4,436)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,958 166,442 - 7 {4438) {33,728) 130,238
Issuance of share capital 29 1,540 136,460 - - - 138,000
Stock-based compensation expense - - 1,290 - - 1,290
Net loss for the year - - - - (56,217) {56,217
Other comprehensive loss - - - {1.258) - (1.256)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 3438 302,802 1,290 (5,692) (89,945) 212,053

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Gther

Com Share Share Other comprehansive Retained
pany Note capital premiurn reserves loss earnings Total
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 3000 $'000
On incarparation - - - - . .
Issuance of share capital 29 1,958 166,442 - - - 168,400
Net profit for the period - - . - 2 P
Other comprehensive loss . - - (12) - (12)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,658 166,442 - (12) 2 168,380
Issuance of share capital 28 1,540 136,460 - - - 138,000
Stock-based compensation expense - - 1,290 - - 1,280
Net profit for the year - - - - 60 80
Other comprehensive loss - - - (41) - {41)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 3,498 302,902 1,280 {53) "82 307,699
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Consolidated and Company financial statements

31 Decembear 2022

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Perlod from 7 October
Yoar andad 31 Decamber 2020 to 31 December
NOE 2022 2021
Gr% Corw Group Comm
$'o0e £000 $000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activitios
Cash generated framfused in) operations i 26 993 {4} {2.22%) (1
interest paid 10 (26,395} - {8,441} ~
income f{axes payabie {3,863} - {1,879) -
Nat cash outflow from operating activities §3,265) _{4) {12,845) N
Cash flows from invasting activitiea
Cash paid for the acquisition, net of cash acquired 12 (420,152) (138.000)  {303,172) {168 395)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 13 (29.748) - (15.622)
Purchases of right-of-use assais - - - -
Proceeds fram sale of it T 803 -
Not cash outflow from invasting activities (449,900)  (138,000)  (317,891)  (168,398)
Cash Aows from financing activities
Borrowing of ieng-term debt 23 485,000 - 165.000 -
Cost of issuing debt 23 {20.G650} - (8,103) -
Borrowing of revalving credit agreament 23 235,274 - 85,986 -
Repayments of revolving credit agreement 23 {215 7238} - (66,162)
Repayments of iong-term debt (159,161) - {807)
Proceeds fram issue of share capital 29 138 00C 138.000 168,400 168,400
Repayment of principal elements of lease payments {3,568y L 1,328 -
Nat cash inflow from financing activities 455,757 138,000 342 981 168,400
Not increase/(decrease) in cash and tash aquivalants 5,592 {4} 12,455 4
Cash and cash equivalenis at the beginning of the financial
year/perod 12.847 4 - -
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .. f2e52) - 32 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the and of the financial
yoariperiod 18,787 - 12,847 4
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated and company financial statements 31 December 2022

NOTES TQO THE CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Bakelite UK TopCo Lid. {"Bakelte Synthetics® or the “Company”) is a Private Limited Company having its legal seat in
the United Kingdom. The Company was incorporated under the Companies Act 20068 as a private company, the
Company is limited by shares, and registered in England and Wales. The Company was formeg on Oclober 7, 2020
with the express purpose of entefing into an acquisition of Hexion inc.’s Phenolic Specialty Resins, Hexamine and
Eurapean based Forest Products Resins businesses (collectively, the ‘PSR Business’). The Company did not have
any substantive operating activities until the acquisihon of the PSR Business on 30 April 2021. The Shares of Bakelite
UK TopCo Ltd are held and managed by Black Diamond Capital Management, LLC and investindustrial Investment
Holdings S.a.r.l. The address of the registered office of the Company is Sully Moors Road, Sully, Penarth, Wales,
CFB4 5YU. The registered number of the Company s 12836558.

The Company is a leading producer of Phenol. Urea & Melamine resing. Aromatic Polyols, Molding Compounds and
Formaldehyde & Derivatives. The wide range of phenolic, urea and melamine resins add strength, durability and fire
resistance to countless materials in the Building, Construction and Transportation sector, several Industrial
applications, Chemical intermediates and Specialties Resonance™ aromatic palyols are building blocks that improve
fire resistance, insuation parformance and production efficiency of PUR and PIR foams. The engineered thermogets
are used across a number of Industnes including building materials, automotive, industrial, electronics and more. The
Company offers a robust portfolia of formaldehyde and derivative products as well as the abiiity to tailor grades to
specialised needs.

The Company develops tailor made solutions to help customers meet their sustainability goals. The products are
widely used (o tum renewable raw materials such as wood into highly engineered products and facilitate the transition
towards a carbon neutral economy by providing technical solutions for the energy conservation in Building and
Consiruction and in the Transport sector.

The Company’s production and distribution operations are located in Barry, United Kingdom, Cowie, United Kingdom.
Lantaron Spain; Botlek, Netherlands' Iserlohn, Germany; Frielendorf, Germany, Solbiate, Italy; Kitee, Finland,
Lowisville, Kentucky; Acme, North Carolina; and in Russia through the Company's 50% ownership interest in Hexion
Schekinoazot Holding B.V, (the *Russ’a JV7), a joint venture that manufactures forest products resins.

Through the acquisition of Georgia-Pacific's Phenolics Chemicals Business {refer to note 12), the Company acquired
the following operating facilities' North America (Conway, North Caralina, Columbus, Chio; Beaver Creek, Michigan,
Taylorsville, Migsissippi. Crosset, Arkansas, Lufkin, Texas; Albany, Qregon and Eugene, Oregon), two operating
faciities In South America (Concepcion, Chile and Concordia, Argentina) and a research and development center in
Atlanta, Georgia.

The financial statements of the Company are prasented in the United States Dollar the currency of the primary
econamic enviranmaent in which the Company’s headquarters is oparated.
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Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated and company financial statements 31 December 2022

2.  SUMIMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and company financial statements
are set out below. The policies have heen consistently applied throughout all years presented, uniess otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to
compamies reporting under those standards. The consolidated and company financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial liabdities at fair value
thraugh the income.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain criticat accounting estimates. It also requires
management {o exarcise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated and company financiat statements are environmental remediation liabilities, legal lisbrlities,
contingent consideration, deferred tax assets and liabilities, income tax accruals, pension and post retirement assets
and liabilities, general insurance habilities, estimated useful lives of long-lived assets and asset impairments.

New standards, interpraetations and amendments

The following amendments are effective for the year beginning 1 January 2022:

- Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract (Amendrnents 1o IAS 37);

- Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to 1AS 16),

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (Amendments to IFRS 1. IFRS 9, {FRS 16 and IAS 41); and
- References to Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3).

The following amendments are effective for the year beginning 1 January 2023 and have not been early adopted:
- Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2);

- Definition of Accourting Estimates (Amendments o |AS 8), and

- Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12)

The Group does not expect any other standards 1ssued by the IASB. but not yet effective, to have a material impact
on the group.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes certain estimales and assumnplions regarding the future, Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated based on historical expetience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual expernience may differ from these estimates and
assumptions. The estimates and agsumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and habilites within the next financial year are discussed below.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNING POLICIES {continucd)

impairment of goodwill and olher intangible assefs and recaverability of investments in subsidiarnias

The Group holds goodwill and other intangible assets arising on acquisitions and the Company holds investments in
subsidiaries in the respective statements of financial position. The carrying values are tested annually for whether
they have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determinad based on vatue-in-use calcutations. These calculations require the use of
astimates and key assumptions. Refer to note 15, Intangible assets, for furlher details of the key assumptions
inciuded in the impaiment models,

Acquisition accounting and valuation of identified intangible assets

Accounting for the acquisition of the PSR and Georgia Pacific Business requires a number of accounting estimates
including the amount of defarred contingent consideration requires the use of estimates of future earnings. In addition
a purchase price analysis has been carried out in order to identify and value intangible assets making up part of the
assets acquired. These calculations require assumptions regarding future revenues and eamings. Refer {0 note 12.
Business Combination, for further details of the key assumptions.

Valuation of the defined benefit pension obligation

The Group sponsors defined benefit pension plans in Germany and italy in which certain employeas of the Group
paticipate. The valuation of the pension obligaticns are based on a number of assumpfions that are significant. Refer
to note 25. Employee benefit obligations, for further details of the key assumptions included in the actuarial modeis.

Golng concem

These financial statements have been prepared based on the going cancern assumption. The Company has
evaluated internal budgets and financial resulis which show, taking into account reasonably plausible changes in
financial performance, that the Group and Company will be able to operate within the ievel of its cuerent funding
arrangements for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the date of these financial
statements.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUWUNING POLICIES (continued}

Basls of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings. Subsidiaries are all entites over which the Group has the power to govern their financial and operating
policies genarally accompanying a shareholding of more than fifty per cent of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consclidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consclidated from the date that control ceases.

The Company uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration
transfarred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets ransferred, the liabilities incurred and the
equily interests issued by the Group. The considaration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resuiting from a contingent consideration agreement. Acquisition retated costs are expensed as incurred. [dentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent kabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisihon by acquisition basis, the Group recognises any nomn-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transterred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group's share of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this 13 less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but net control or joint control This 18
generally the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the veting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accaunting. Under the equity method of accounting. the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafler to recognise ths group's share of the post-acquisition profits or
lasses of the investee in profit or Joss, and the group's share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the group’'s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. Unrealised gains on transactions between the
group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 1o the extent of the group’s interest in these entities.
Unvealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. The carrying amount of equity-accounied investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the
accounting palicy.

Investments in subsidianes are accounted for at cost less impaiment.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are etiminated

Unrealised losses are also eliminated Accounting policies of subsidianies have been changed where necessary to
ansure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentational currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entilies are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated and company
financial statements are presented in United States Dollar, which is the Company’s functional and presentationat
virenvy.

Transactions and halgncas

Foreign currency transactions are transiated -nto the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resuting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Group comparnias

The results and financiat position of ait the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper- inflationary

sconomy) that have a functional currency different from the presentational currency are translated into the

presenlational currency as follows:

- assets and habilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financiat position,

- income and expenses for each income statement are transiated at average exchange rates; and

- all resuiting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the transtation of the net invesiment in foreign operations are

taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation 1s partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences

that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income stalement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at tha closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at histor cal cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for
impairment, Historical cost Includes expenditure thal 1s directly afiributable to the acquisition of the asset and bringing
the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separale asset, as appropriate, only
where it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the incame statement during the financial year in which they are incurred. Any borrowing
costs associated with gualifying property plant and equipment are capitalised and depreciated at the rate applicable
to that assel category.

Land is not depreciated Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method or reducing
balances method to allocate their cost 1o its residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 4 to 30 years

Machinery and equipment 110 30 years

The assets' residual values and useful economic lives are reviewed regularly and adjusted if appropnate, at the end
of each reporting year An asset's carryig value 1s wniten dawn immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carying amount is greater than ts estimated recoverabte amount. Gains and losses an the disposal of assets are
determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amoun! and are recognised in admuinistration expenses in
tne income statement,
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNING POLICIES (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting pelicy Depreciation of these
assets, determined on the same bass as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Intanglble assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the far value of the Group s share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of the acguisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiarias is
included in ‘intangible assets’. Goodwill has an infinite usefut life and is tested annually for impairment and carried at
cost less accumulated impaiment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of gacdwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwill 1s allocated to cash-
generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made 1o those cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose, identified according 1o operating segment.

Trademgris, trade names and licences

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Tradernarks and licences acquired in a
business combination are recognised at far value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licences have a finite
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisalion is calculated using the straight-line
method o allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives of 15 years and is charged to
the income statement.

Custorner relationships

Contraciual customer relationships acguired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The asset represants the value at acquisition of long term relationships with custoemers. The contractual
cusiomer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life of the customer relationship of 15 years and is
charged to the incame statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite life such as goodwill are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever svents or changes in
circumslances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell, and valuz in use In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimatas of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

For the purposes of assessing impairment. assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiaple cash flows. Impairment losses recegnised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated.
are credited initially to the ¢arrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other
assets in the cash-generating unit.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset {cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but sa that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset

Page 28 0f 79



Bakelite UK TopCo L.td.

Notes to the congolidated and company financial statements 31 Decemher 2022

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNING POLICIES {continued)

(cash-generating unit) in the prior year. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement
immediatety” If goodwill 15 impaired however, no reversal of the impairment 1s recegnised in the financial statements

Financiat assets

Classification

1he group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories in accordance with IFRS O:

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

- those to be measured subsaquently at fair value either through Other Comprehensive Income(QCI) or through
profit or loss,

Financial assets at amortised cost

Assels that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent sotely payments of
principal and interest, are measured al amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is inciuded in
finance incomea using the effective interest rate method. Any gain cr loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly 1n profit of loss and presented in nther gains/({losses} together with foreign exchange gains and tosses.
Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Frnanciat assets at fair vatue through profit or loss
The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
- debt investments that do not quaiify for measurement at edher amortised cost or fair value through OCI.
- equity investments that are held for trading.
— equity mvestments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses through OC1.

Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income

Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive incame comprise equily securities that are nat held for
trading and which the Group has irrevocably elected at inttial recagmition to recognise in this category. The Group
considers this catagory to be more relevant for assets of this type. Purchases and sales of these assels are valued at
the date of trade,

Inventories

Inventories are stated al the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in_first-out method. Gostis
calcufated on an average cost basis and includes raw materials, direct labour. other direct costs and attribitable
production overheads, where appropnate. Net reakisable value represents the estimated selling price less ail
estimated costs of completion and applicable selling costs, Where necessary, provision is made for slow-moving and
cbsolete inventory, Inventory on consignment and their related obligations are recognised in current assets and
payables respectively.

Trade and other recelvables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performead in the ordinary course of
business, Other than in the case of certain intercompany receivables, and large corporate cusiomers, they are
generally due for settlement within 30 to 120 days and therefore are all classified as current, Trade receivables are
imtially recognised at fair value, being the original invoice amount, and subsequently measured at amortised cost less
provision for impairment. The group applies the IFRS 8 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade recewables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due,

Tne expected loss rates are based on the historical credit losses from past experience and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking informaton on factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables,
where applicaple the amouni of the loss is recognised in the income statement within administrative expenses, When
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a trade receivable is uncoltectible it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against administrative expenses in the income statement

Cash and cash equivatants

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-tarm
deposits with an original maturity of less than three months, reduced by overdrafts to the extent that there is a right of
offset against other cash balances. For the purposes of the consclidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above net of outstanding bank overdrafis wherae there
is a right of offset.

Share capital

Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Proceeds in excess of the nominal value of shares issued are aliccated to
the share premium account and are also classified as equily. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new Crdinary Shares or apticns are deducted from the share premium account. Where Qrdinary Shares are acquireg
for cash and then carncelled, the nominal value of shares is deducted from the value of equity and credited to the
Capital Redemption reserve. The amount paid is debited to reserves,

Financial liabllitles

Debt is measured at fair value, being net proceeds after deduction of directly attributable issue costs, with
subsequent measurement at amaortised cost with the exception of deferred equity consideration which is categorised
as a financiat liability at fair value through the income statement. Debt issue costs are recognised in the income
statement over the expected term of such instruments at a constant rate on the carrying amount.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from supphers. Accounts payable are classified as cumment liabilities if payment is due within one year pr less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presanted as non-current liabilities, Trade
payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effectve
interest method.

Interest bearing lcans

Interest bearing loans are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred.
Loans are subsequently camied at amortised cost. Loans are ctassified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months afler the statement of financial pasition
date. Loan costs are expensed in the consalidated Group income statement under the heading ‘finance costs’.
Arrangement and facility fees together wath bank charges are charged to the income statement under the heading
‘administrative expenses’.

Current and deferrad income tax

The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recagnised in other comprehensive income where the associated tax 1s also recognised in
other comprehensive income. The current sncome tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable incorme. Management evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation 1s subject to interpretation and estathshes provisions where
apprapriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorties.
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Current and deferred income tax {continued)

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the statement of financial
position date between the 1ax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes Deferred tax liabiities are recognised in respect of all temporary differences except where the deferred tax
liability arises from the initial recognition of gocdwill in business combinations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and tax losses, to the extent that they are
regarded as recoverable. They are regarded as recoverable where, on the basis of available evidence, there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which the future reversal of the underlying temperary differences can be deducted.
The carrying value of the amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of inancial position date and
reduced to the extent that it is no fonger probable that sufficient taxable profit will be availabie to allow all, or part, of
the tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assels and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date.

Defarred income tax assets and Kabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to seftle the balances on a net basis.

Provislons

Pravisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
a past event and it is probable that an owutflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably measured.

Leases

The Company determines if a contract is a lease at the inception of the arrangement. The Company reviews all
opticns to extend, terminate, or purchase its right of use assets at the inception of the lease and accounts for these
options when they are reasonably certain of being exercsed. Neary all of the Company’s lease contracts do not
provide a readily determnable impidicit rate. For these contracts, the Company esttmates the incremental barrowing
rate to discount the lease payments basad on information available at lease commencement and combines lease and
nan-lease components. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the statement of financial
pasition and the Company recognises lease expense for these leases on a straight-ine basis over the lease term.
Lease assets are disclosed under ‘right-of-use assets’ on the consoldated statement of financial pasition. Short term
lease liabilities are disclosed under the current liabilities and long term lease liabilihes are disclesed under non-
current liabilities 1n the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group and Company's leasing policy is
further described in note 14

Defarred constderation

Deferred consideration 1s recognised at farr value. Whiere the value of deferred consideration is based on a future
event the amounts of future payments are discounted to their present values at the date of completian. The discount
rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing rate being the rate at which similar borrowing could be obtained from
an independent financier under comparable terms and cond tions. Deferred consideration is discounted to take
account of the time value of money at rates based on those used for the valuation of related intangible assets.
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Research and Development Costs

The Company performs research and development activities for technical improvement of products and procasses
that are expected to contribute to future earnings, We also provide customer service through our technical staff as
part of our research and development program to discover new applications and processes. All costs associated with
research and development and technical services are charged to expense as incurmed.

Employee banefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contnbution pension plans in The Netherands, Finland, Spain, UK, Incha and the US. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity with
the pension cost charged to the income statement as incurred. The Group has no further obligations once the
contributions have been paid.

The Group also operates defined benefit pension ptans in Germany and laly under broadly simitar regulatory
frameworks. All of these plans are final salary pension plans, which provide benefits to members in the form of a
guaranteed level of pension payable for life. Further information is given in note 25.

Share-based compensation

The Group adapted a Stock Appreciation Rights Plan. Share-based expense is recognised as a component of sales,
general, and administrative expense. The Company measures and records expense related to all stock awards
based on the grant date fair value of the awards, Expense for the service based gptions is recognised over the
requisite service period. If grants are equily-treated then the offset to expense is to equity. The fair value of each
option award granted to an employee with SARs is estimated on the date of grant. The Company has service based
SARs outstanding as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 Further information is given in nate 30.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is accounted for in accordance with the principles of {FRS 15, which has been applied as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue far the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and
represents the invoiced value for the sale of the goods net of sales taxes rebates and discounts. Revenue from the
sale of goods is recognised when controt of the products has transferred which is when a Group Company has
delivered products to the customer, the customer has accepted delivery of the products and collectability of the
related receivables is reasonably assured. A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the
point in tima that the consideration is uncandiional because only the passage of time is requ-red before the payment
is due. Where contracts contain multiple deliverables, and the volume of each deliverable can be determined with
reasonabie certainty, then the transaction price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on the
expeacted cost of each item.

Sale of services

Revenue for the sale of services is measured at the fair value of the consideration recewved or receivable and
represents the invoiced valug for the sale of the services net of saies taxes, rebates and discounts. Revenue from the
sale of services is recognised when a Group Company has completed the services and collectability of the related
raceivablas is reasonably assuraed.

Royalty and licence income
Royalty and licence income is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreements.
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interest income

Interest income is accrued on a lime basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s nel carrying amount.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the year in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised
when paid. Distributions in specie are recognised at the fair value of the assets distributed.

Exceptional ltems
These are items of an unusual or non-recurring nature incurred by the Group and include transactional costs and one
off items relating to business combinatinns, such as acquigition cxpenses.
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3. REVENUE

The Company s a leading producer of Phenol, Urea & Melamine resins, Aromatic Palyols, Molding Compounds and
Formaldehyde based thermosetting resing and formatin solutions & Derivatives. These end products are sold to
customers across the globe. The production and distribution facilities of the Company are located in Barry, United
Kingdom, Cowie, United Kingdom, Lantaron, Span; Botiek, Netherlands; Iserlohn, Germany; Frielendorf, Germany;
Soibiate, Kaly; Kitee, Finland; Louisville, Kentucky; Acme, North Carolina; and in Russia through the Company's 50%
ownership interesl in Bakelite Schekinoazot Holding B.V. (the “Russia JV}, a joint venture that manufactures forest

products resins.

Through the acquisition of Georgia-Pacific's Phenclics Chemicals Business the Company acquired the following
operating fadilities: North America (Conway, North Carolina, Columbus, Ohio; Beaver Creek, Michigan; Taylorsville,
Mississippi; Crossett, Arkansas; Lufkin, Texas: Albany, Oregon and Eugene, Oregon), two operating fadilities in
South America (Concepcion, Chile and Concardia, Argentina) and a research and development cernter in Allania,

Georgia. The geographical spread of the revenue is as follows:

Revenue Period from 7

Yeoar anded 31 Cctober 2020 to

December 2022 31 December 2021

$'000 $'000

European Union 369,399 246, 477

Americas 721,786 139,050

Asia and Middle East 39,083 25,562

Other Eurcpe 23,362 27 956

United Kingdom 125751 73620

Australia 3,868 3.147
ARica 1,076 301

Total 1,285,226 516,114
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4. OPERATING LOSS

Operating loss is stated after charging/{credmng; the following items.

Poriod from 7
Qctober 2020 to

Yoar snded 31 3t Dacember
Note December 2022 2021
$000 $000
Inventory expensed in cost of goods sold 871,210 338,604
Consumables used in production 91,488 34,160
Research and development expenses 10,832 6,797
Other operating expenses 44,669 14,580
Distribution costs 50,369 16,580
Depreciation 13 48,184 15,646
Repreciation right-of-use assets 14 4,444 1,795
Interest expense right-of-use assets 14 616 249
Amortisation 15 3722 702
Employee benefit expenses 8 143,280 74,194
Other income 5 (3,328) {3.424)
Other expense 5 9,037 2,746
Acquisition related expenses & 20,835 231863
Loss on extinguishment of debt 6,452 -
Start-up costs associated with the set-up of Bakelite Synthetics g 13.232 10,639
Restructuringexpenses e B 5123 373
Total 1,318,275 541,149
5. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE
items included in other income and expenses are, R e R
Year ended Pariad from 7
31 Qctober 2020 to
December 31 December
2022 2021
3'000 $000
Other income
Fareign exchange gams - 2,648
Royalty income 1,050 778
Other gperating income , 2,278
Total othar income 3,328 3,424
Other expense
Foreign exchange losses (2,026) -
Accryed board fees (690) (678)
Accrued management fees (5.000) -
Houlihan Lokey Capital settlement expenses - (1,000)
Other expenses S e S (132 _ (1.088)
Total other expense {9.037) {2,746)
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6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Included within expenses are exceptional items as shown below:

Vearonded ~Pariod from 7
k3] October 2020 ta

Dacember 31 Decomber

2022 2021

$'000 $000

Acquisition related expenseas 20,835 23,763
Loss on extinguishment of debt 6,452 -
Start-up costs associated with the set-up of Bakelite Synthetics 13,232 10,639
Restructurning expenses 5,123 3738
Contingent consideration adustment ) e 7,867 ——
Total sxceptional iterns 53,509 37,840

In connaction with the acguisition of Georgia Pacific's Phenolics Chemical business, the Group incurred acquisition-
related costs of approximately $20,595,000 which have been expensed as operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2022. The acquisition-related expenses incurred during the period for the acquisition of the PSR business
were $240,000. These expenses are related to fees paid to lawyers, consultants and other professional services
directly related to the acquisition.

The Group incurred $13,232,000 of start-up costs related 1o the set up of the Bakelite group during the year ended 31
December 2022 reiated to the acquisition of Georgia Pacific's Phenalics Chemical business. The start-up costs
related to the acquisition of the PSR business were $10 639,000 during the period ended 31 December 2021. These
costs relate to expenses for the purchase of licenses, expenses for the setup of the banking system and other costs
associated to the set-up of the acquisitions within the group.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a reserve of $1,409,000 (2021, $2,381,000) related to severance cosis and
other related expensas. The restructuring pragram is aimed on reducing research and development activities in
Germany, Great Britain and the US. The Group recorded $5,123,000 of restructunng expenses for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: $3,738,000).

On 24 March 2023, the Company signed an agreement with Hexion for the final Earnout Payment in the amount of
$20 000,004 for all periods to be paid during 2023 Accordingly, the Company has adjusted the contingent
consideration iiability to $20,000 000 at 31 December 2022 and recorded the related fair value adjustment of

$7,867 000 in the Consclidated income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 Refer to Note 26 for further
information.
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7. AUDITORS REMUNERATION

During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company's

''''' " Period from 7
Yoar onded October 2020
3 Decamber to 31 December

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the company and 300 200
consolidated financial statements
Fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit of the company's 1,119 703
subsidiaries
Other services o o ) . -
Total auditors remuneration 1,461 903
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Pariod from 7

Octobar 2020

Yaar anded to 31

31 December Dacomber

2022 2021
$000 $000
Wages and salarigs 116 871 60617
Social security costs 12,174 7,441
Share-based payment expenses 1,277 13
Pension costs- defined contribution plan 4,503 2,629
Pension costs- defined benefit plan 1,876 1.410
Other post-employment henefit expense 7.679 2,084
Total employee benefit expenses 143,280 74,194

The Company had no employees, other than the drrectors, and incurred no staff costs during the year. The
emoiuments of the directors are descnbed in hote 32

8. MONTHLY AVERAGE NUMBER Of PEOPLE EMPLOYED

Period from 7

Qctober 2020

Yaar ended to 31

31 December December

2022 2021

Manufacturing 957 714
Sales 4 28
Administrative 158 113
Research & Development o Y - BT
Total average number of employees 1,230 923

The total number of employees (FTEs} in the Group at 31 December 2022 was 1,471 (2021 $25). There were no
employees employed by the Company,
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10, FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Period from 7
Qctobar 2020
Year anded te M
31 Decamber Dacamber
2022 2021
$000 $'000
Finance costs
Amortised finance costs (8,387) (1.074)
Intgrest expense on loans ) {26,395) {8,441)
Total finance costs (34,782) (9,515)
Finance income
Interest income 118 4
Total finance income 118 4
Total finance expenses B - ~ (34,664) (9,511)
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income lax expense delail for the Group for the year is 4s follows ©

Pariad from 7
October 2020
Your gnded 31 te 31
Decomber December
2022 2021
§'000 $'000
Current tax

Cumenttax onloss fortheyear N 2,943 .
Total current 2,943 711

Daferred tex (note 24}
Qrigination and reversal of temporary differences (4,489) 954
Total deferred tax {4,489) 954
Total Income tax expense (1,546) 1,665

A change o the main UK cosporation tax rate, announced in the Budget on 3 March 2021, was enacted under the
Finance Act 2024, Tha rate applicable from 1 April 2023 will increase to 25%, from the previously enacted rate of
19%. Deferred income taxes at the date of the siatement of financial position have been measured using these
enacted tax rates and reflected in these Rnancial statements. The tax on the Group's loss before tax dfers from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the standard {ax rate applicable (o the profits of the consolidated entities as

follows e B
’ Petiod from 7

October 2020
Year anded to 31

oD b Datomber
2022 2021

$000 $000

Loss beforé tax e . fB7.7B3)  (32,063)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax rates applicable to UK standard rate of tax of 18% {10975) = {6.082)

Tax effects of:

Fareign tax rate benefit differential (701) (1,324)
State tax expense, net of federal benefit - (597)
Non-deductible (osses and other expenses 938 943
Other permanent differences 1.684 140
Uncertain tax positions {(11) {379)
Return-to-provision 1,085 (63)
Excess DTA not expected to be realised 8,048 8,037
Changes in enacted tax laws and tax rates (1,280) 1,531
Osferredonly . (634} (531)
Income tax expense (1,546) 1,665

As of 31 December 2022, the Company has net operating loss (NOL) carry forwards of approximately $38,866 000
{2021. $5.933.000) In Argentina which has a five year carry forward period as well as Chile, Spain, ltaly and the UK.

Ajt NOLs have an indefinite carry forward period.
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12 BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of Georgla-Pacific's Chemicals Business

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into an acquisition via an equity purchase agreement acquiring Georgia-
Pacific’s Chemicals Business from Georgia-Pacific, {the "seller”) in exchange for the purchase price. The acquistion-
date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $418,720,000 in cash, including a closing working capital
acttlernent of 52,860,000, The wurking capiizl setttement ot $2,960,000 was paid by the seller to the buyer in January
2023. The Company recorded a withholding tax {iabdity in the Opening Balance Sheet of 38,618,000 for the purchase
of the Chile operations.

The purchase price was funded by a additional aquity funding of $138,000,000 into the Company by Black Diamond
Capital Management, LLC and Investindustrial investment Holdings S.a.r.l. and proceeds from borrowings under an
Initial Term |oan of $485,000,000. These funds were also used to pay off the existing debt. The acquisition of
Georgia-Pacific’'s Chemicals Business was accounted for as a business combination using the purchase accounting
method. The purchase price was allocaled to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair
value at the date of acquisition. The provisional fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date are summarised in the table below.

Considaration $'000
Cash 418,720
Total consideration 418,720
Recagnised amounts of Identifiable asaats acquired and Habilities assumad $'000
Froperty, plant and eguipment 220115
Right-of-use assets 8,299
Intangibte assets 68,900
Deterred tax assets 4,521
Other assets 2
Inventory 75,109
Other current assets 19,261
Trade receivables 70,540
Cash and cash equivalents 1,528
Trade and other payables (61,003)
Defered tax liabilities (8,625)
Employee benefit abligations {1,487}
Lease liability (8,346)
Oiher liabilities (10,044)
Total identifiable not assets 380,170
Goodwill 38,550

Intangible assets acquired in the transaction consisted of the follow:ng items:

intangible assots, 27 May 27 2022 Expactad life $’'G00
{in years)

Trademarks 15 14,900

Customer relalionships 15 55,000

Total identifiable intangible assets 55,800

The transaction resulted in goodwill of $38,550,000 that is attributable mainly to the assembled workforce and the
expected synergy of combining business and resources. Expected synergy was the primary reason for the business

——— e e,
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12. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Georgia-FPacific’s Chemicals Business (continued)

combination. In connection with the acquisition, the Company incurred acquisition-related costs of approximately
$20,595,000 which have been expensed as operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the
year ended December 31, 2022, The intangible assets were fair valued at 27 May 2022. The trademarks were valued
based on the income approach: Relief from royalty method. Customer relationships were vaiued based on the excess
gamings method utilising company-specific inputs. Both include significant Level 3 inputs not observable in the
market. Kay assumptions include future revenue and costs attributable to the assets and labilites acquired.

The acquired business contributed revenues of $491,417,000 and net profit of $2,699,000 to the group for the period
27 May 2022 to 31 December 2022. The Group paid $20,835,000 of acquisition related casts and $13,232,000 of
start-up costs. Excluding these costs the Group would have made a loss of $14,255,000. The loss is manly coming
from the finance cost of $34,782,000. If the acquisition had cccurred on 1 January 2022, consolidated pro-forma
revenue and loss for the year ended 31 Dacember 2022 would have been $1,.636,238,000 and $9,630,000
respeclively. These amounts have been calculated using the results and adjusting them for the additional
depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged, assuming that the fair value adjustments to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assels had applied from 1 January 2022, together with the consequential tax
effects.

Acquisition of the PSR Business

On 30 April 2021, the Company acquired all of the assets of the PSR Business from Hexion, Inc. (the "Seller”). The
acquisition-date fair vatue of the consideration transferred totaled $305.472,000 in cash, which included a working
capital setttement of $1,677,000 paid to the Seller in July 2021, and the Company is obligated to make future
payments to the sefler, based on the performance of the acquired businesses for the 32 month period following the
acquisition. The fair value of this cantingent consideration was estimated to be $13,200,000 as of the acquisition
date. The total purchase price was estimated at $318,672,000.

The fair value of the contingent consideration is estimated by applying the income approach, which includes
significant Level 3 inputs not observable in the market. Leve! 3 includes assets and liabilities whose value is
determined using pricing models, discountad cash flow methodologies. ar similar technigues reflecting the
Company's assumptions about the assumptions markel participants would use as well as those requiring significant
management judgment. Key assumptions include future revenue and costs altributable to the assets and liabilities
acquired.

Caontingent consideration payments will be based on the amount of actual adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) above targeted EBITDA amounts of
345,000,000, $50,000,000 and $60,000,000 in 2021, 2022. and 2023, respectivety. On 24 March 2023, the Company
signed an agreement with Hexion for the final Eamout Payment in the amount of $20.000,300 for all periods to be
paid during 2023. Accordingly, the Company has adjusled the contingent constderation liability to $20,060,000 at 31
December 2022, and recorded the related fair value adjustment of $7 867,000 in the Consclidated Income Statement
for the year endad 31 December 2022. Refer to Note 26 for further information.

The purchase price was funded by

i) A capital contrivution of $168 400,000 into the Hotding Companies by Black Diamond Cap#al Management,
LLC and Investindustrial Investment Haldings S.a.rl.

il  Proceeds from borrowings under an initial term lcan of $90.000.000.

iy  Proceeds from borrowings under an initial term loan of EUR 62,000,000,

The acquisition of the PSR Business from Hexicnh was accounted for as a businass combinaton us ng the purchase

accounting method. The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the

estimated fair value at the date of acquisition.
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12. BUSINESS COMBINATION {(continued)
Acquistion of the PSR Business (continued)

The estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are summarised in the
table below.

Considerntion $°000
Cash 305472
Deferred contingent consideration _ . e e e 13,200
Total conslderation 318,672
Recognised amounts of [dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed $'400
Property, plant and equipment 264.131
Right-of-use assets 7,504
Intangible assets 16,200
Deferred tax assets 9,052
Other agsets 8,991
Invesiments 4,640
Inventories 54,053
Other cument assets 11,387
Trade receivables 92,450
Cash and cash equivalents 2,309
Trade and other payables (76,613
Defemred tax liabilities (23.114)
Employee benefit abbgations (46,567
Lease |iability (7.135)
Provisions (5,116)
Other liabifties = . | . o A . I : . U | Y43
Total identifiable net assote U P . 1:.1)4
Goodwill 17,785
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12. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquistion of the PSR Buslness (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in the transaction consisted of the following items:

Intangible assets 30 April 2021 Expactod lifs $000
(in years}

Trademarks 15 6,100

Customer relationships 15 10,100

Total identifiable intangible 18,200

The transaction resutted i goodwiill of $17, 765,000 that 15 attributable mainly to the assembled workfarce and the
expected synergy of combining business and resources. Expecled synerdy was the primary reason for the business
combination. In connection with the acquisition, the Company incurred acquisition-related costs of approximately
$20,459, 000 which have been expensed as operating expenses for the period ended 31 December 2021.

The intangible assets were fair valued at 30 April 2021, The trademarks were valued based on the income approach.
Relief from royalty methed. Customer relationships were valued based on the excess eamings methed ublising
company-specific inputs. Both include sighificant level 3 inputs not observable in the market. Key assumptions
include future revenue and costs attributabie to the assets and fiabilities acquired.

The acquired business contributed revenues of $516,114,000 and net loss of $33,728,000 to the group for the period
1 May 2021 to 31 December 2021. The Group paid $23,163,000 of acguisition retated costs and $10,639,000 of start-
up costs. Excluding these costs the Group would have made a profit of $74,000. {f the acquisition had occurred on 4
January 2021, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the period ended 31 December 2021 would have been
$774,171 and $111,000 respectively. These amounts have been calcuiated using the results and adjusting them for
the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged, assuming that the fair value adjustments
to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 January 2021, together with the
consequential tax effects
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13  PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are summarised as follows at year ended 31 December 2022 and perniod from 7
Qctober 2020 to 31 December 2021:

Machinery & Assets under

Land Bulldings equipment construction Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance on incorporation
Historical costs - - - . -
Accumutated depreciation - - . - -
Book value - . - - .

Movements period from 7 QOctober 2020 to 31 December 2021

PSR business acquistion 30,538 42 580 158,128 32,887 264 131
Additions - - 10,430 5093 15,523
Disposals - - {1.624) - (1.624)
Depreciation {271) (2,457) (12,918) - {15,848}
Currency transtation adjustment ~~ (1,142) (o9 . {528k . (451) {8,453}
Balance 29,123 38,418 148,861 36,529 252 931

Balance as at 31 December 2021

Historical costs 29,394 40,875 161,779 36,526 268 577
Accumuiated depreciation (271) (2,457) {12,918) - {15,648)
Book value as at 31 December 2021 29,123 38418 148,861 36,529 252,931

Movements year ended 31 December 2022

Georgia Pacific business acquisition 12717 26,886 173,068 7,444 220,115
Additions 2.662 4723 14,472 10,539 32,396
Dispasals - - (776) - (776)
Cepreciation [£:10:0)) (7.254) (38,140) - {46,194)
Currency translation adjustment {1571} (2 604) (4,544) {2,183} {10,902}
Batance 13,008 21,751 144,080 15,800 194,639

Batance as at 31 Decetnber 2022

Historical costs 43,202 69 880 343,099 52,329 509,410
Accumulated depreciation 1,071) 9.711) (51,058} - {61,840)
Book valua as at 31 December 2022 42,131 60,169 292,941 52,329 447,570

Depreciation charge of $44 334 803 (2021: $15,016,722) has been charged to cost of sales and $1,859,1587 (2021:
$629,732) has been charged to selling, general and acministrative expenses, Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts of the assels, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives. Significant capital expenditures for machinery and equipment contracted for al year end but
not recognised as liakilities were $224,726 (2021: $329,226).
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14 RIGHY-OF-USE ASSETS

The following amounts are reponted as right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,

2022 2021

$000 $'000
Aasgts
Buildings 2156 495
Land improvements 230 1,336
Vehictes 501 696
Machinery & equipment 6,330 2797
Raiicars 1.782 167
Starage 313 784
Total right-of-use asssts 12,012 6,275
Liabilitles
Current 3.903 1,789
Noncurrent 8212 4,840
Total lease liabilities 12,1185 6,228

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2022 financial year were $2,676,000 (2021:$2,156,005) for the group.

The consolidated income staterment shows the following amounts related to leases as at 31 December 2022 and
2021;

Period from 7
Year October 2020
andaed 31 to 31
Pecembaer Decomber
2022 2021
$000 $000
Aszets
Buildings an 65
Land improvements 112 53
Vehicles 389 176
Machinery & equipment 554 507
Railcars 176 80
Starage 542 914 _
Total depreciation charge of right-of-use agsets 4,444 1,795
Interest expense 618 249
Expense related to short-term leases (included in cost of goods sold and 1,842 1,092
administrative expenses)
Expense related to variable lease payments not included in lease Kabilities (included 834 576
in administrative expenses)
The total cash outflow for leases 7,736 3.712

The Company adopted IFRS 16 whereby leases are presented on the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Company leases certain builldings. warehouses, ral cars, land and operating equipment under operating leases.
Short term teases of 12 months or less are recognised as lease expense as incurred. The Company determings if a
contract is a lease at the inception of the arrangement. The Company reviews all optians to extend, terminate, or
purchase its right of use assets at the inception of the jease and accounts for these options when thay are reasonably
certain of being exercised.
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

At lease commencement, the Company records a lease liability and Right-of-use asset ("ROU") based cn the present
value of the fyture jease payments over the expected lease term which includes options to extend or terminate the
lease when it is reasonably certain those options will be exercised. The Company elected to not include non lease
components in determining its lease liability, For those {eases with payments based on an index, the lease liability 1s
detarmined using the index at thc commencement Jale. If the amount by which a lease escalates based cn the
change In an index is not known at lease commencement, it is considered a variable lease payment and is not
inctuded in the present value of the future lease payments. The present value of the lease liability is determined using
the Company’s incremental borrowing rate at fease inception. The leases were révalued at the business combination
date. ROL) assets represent the right 10 control the use of the leased asset over the tarm of the lease and are
recognised in an amount equal to the lease liabilty, An RCLUJ asset and lease liability are nat recognised for leases
with an initial tarm of tweive months or less. These are expensed to the income statement.

Cash paid for operating leases approximatad cperating lease expense and non-cash right-cf-use asset amedisation
for the year. The table beiow reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for the first five years and the tolal of the
remaining years to the operabng lease liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financiat position as at 31
December 2022

Yaar endad 31 Peariod fronT
Decombor 7 October
3022 2020 to 31

Decembear
2021
$'000 $'000

Lease liabilities
2022 - 1,726
2023 3,903 1,222
2024 3,357 922
2025 2,512 474
2026 1,685 409
2027 195 -
After five years o o R 968 LA786
Total lease llabiiities , . - L o 12,660 6,509
Amount rapresenting interest (545} {280)
Present value of lease liabilities 12,115 6,229
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Iniangible assets are summarised as follows al year anded 31 December 2022 and period fram 7 Qctaber 2020 to 31
December 2021

Customer

Goodwill _ Trademmarks _ relationships Total
$'000 $0400 $000 $'000

Balance on incorporation
Historical costs - - - -
Accumulated amortisation e F L - -
Book valus - - - -
Movemenis period from 7 October 2020 to 31 December 2021
PSR business acquisition 17,765 6,100 10,100 33,985
Amortisation - (264) {438) (702)
Currency translalion adjustment (691} {181} (315, = (1.197)
Balance 17,074 5645 9,347 32,066
Balance as at 31 December 2021
Historical costs 17,765 6,100 10,100 33,865
Accumulated amortisation - (264) (438) {702)
Currency translation adjustment L {19y (315) {1,197)
Book value as at 31 December 2621 17,074 5,645 9,347 32,066
Movaemaents year ended 31 December 2022
Geargia Pacific business acquisition 38,550 14,800 55000 108.450
Adjustments 581 - - 581
Amaortisation - (957) (2,765) {3,722)
Currency translation adjustment .~~~ _ @y (258) {426) (1,661)
Balance 38,154 13,685 51,809 103,648
Balance as at 31 Decembear 2022
Historical costs 56,896 21,000 65,100 142,996
Accumulated amortisation - {1221) (3,203) (4.424)
Cumency transiation adjustment {1,868) {449y (743 . [2.B5B)
Book value as at 31 December 2022 55,228 19,330 1,156 135,714

18.1 Intangible assets

Intangible assets were acquired during the Georgia Pacific and PSR business acquisition. Tragemarks and customer
relationships are amontised using the straight-line method over a period of 15 years. The value of trademarks was
detarmined using the income approach, relief from royalty method. Customer relationships ware determined using the
excess earmings methad utitising company-specific inputs.
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

15.2 Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's Cash Generating Un.ts {CGU) identified according to gecgraphic operating
segment. The allocation at 31 December 2022 and 2021 18 as follows

cGU - 2022 2021

$'000 $000
PSR Business 16,678 17,074
Georgia Pacific Business 38,550 -
Total ' 56,228 17,074

Gnadwill is testad for impaitment at the end of the year. 1he recoverable amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022
and 2027 was assessed baged on the value n use. The assessed value exceeded the carrying value and no
impairment loss was recognised.

The key assumptions in the calculation to assess the value in use are future revenues and the ability to generate
future cash flows. Key inpuls were the income statement forecast through year 2028. These were extrapolated
through the terminal period in consideration of market participant assumptions, Assumptions were discussed with
management for reasonableness. The long-term growth rate was selected based on the OECD's GDP Growth report.
The Company used the industrial discount rate. The key assumpbons used in the 2022 and 2021 valuations were.

PSR Business T 2022 2021
Long term growth rate 2.5% 2%
Industnal discount rate 12.5% 11.5%
Georgla Pacific Business T 2022 2021
Long term growth rate 2.5% -
Industrial discount rate 19% -

The discount rate used is based on a commeon risk profile across the Group.

The group tests whether googdwiil nas suffered any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2022 and 2021 reporting
year, the recoverable amount of cash-generating units was determined based on value-in-use calculations which
require the use of assumptions. The calcutations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The Impairment assessment for ail units showed assessed values thal
exceeded the carrying values with some headroom. Sensitivity analysis has been carmed out on the assessment for
each unit.

PSR Business sensitivity analysis: The assessment was recalculated using both a longer term growth rate of 0% and
a discount rate of 19%. The Group would have had to recognize an impairment for the PSR Business against the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of $98,847,000.

Geaorgia Pacific sensitivity analysis' The assessment was recalcuiated using both a longer term growth rate of 0%
and a discount rate of 20%. The Group would have had to recognize an impairment for the Georgia Pacific Business
against the carrying amount of property, piant and equipment of $17,953,000,
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS {continued)

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated above. These
growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the industry in which each CGU
operates
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16 OTHER ASSETS

Other assets are summarised as follows as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,

2022 2021
§000 $'000
Other deferred charges 3,252 2,753
Cther non-current assels 3,104 2,085
Loans to affiliates . 1,252 3,371
Total cther aasets 7,608 8,209

The Company has Silver Catalyst inventory which are classified as other deferred charges. This is a melal used as
raw material in the production. It is held in reactars on site and at the vendor.
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17 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company holds several investments in group undertakings. The balances at year ended 31 December 2022 and
period from 7 October 2020 to 31 December 2021 were

$000
Balance on incorporation -
PSR businass acquisition . o 167 900
Balance as at 31 December 2021 167,900
Georgia Pacific business acquisition . ) . 138,000
Balance as at 31 December 2022 305,900

Investments in group undertakings are held at cost, which s the far vatue of the consideration pad, less any
impairment. The subsidiaries at 31 December 2022, which are held ditectly unless noted otherwise are as follows:

Proportion Proportion Class of
Nama of Company Note held 2022 held 2021 sharsholding Nature of businsss
Bakedile UK Intarmediate Limited b 100% 100% Ocdinary Intermadiate holding company
Bakeslite UK Holding Limited 1 100% 100% Ordinary Holding company
Bakelits UK Buysr Sub Limited 1 100% 100% Qrdinary Holding company
Bakelite Synthatics UK Holding 1 100% 100% Qrdinary Holding company
Lirited
Gakelite Synthetes UK Limited 1 100% 100% Ordinary Manufacturing and sale of goods
Peach Holdeo Limited 1 100% 0% Ordinarcy Holding company
Bakelite US Holdeo inc. 2 100% 100% Ordinary Holding company
Bakelite LLC ? 100% 100% Qrdinary Head office manufacturing and
aals of goods
Sakairta intarnahonal inc. 2 100% 100% Ordinary Holding company
Bakatite Natheriands Buyer B v, 3 100% 100% Ordinasy Hold:ng company
Sakalits Botlak B.V. 3 100% 100% Ordinary Tolling and administrative support
sarvices
Bakelte Shchekinoazot Holding B.V. 4 50% S30% Parine rship Dormant
Bakelits Garmany Buyar GmbH 5 100% 100% Ordinary Holding company
Bakelita GmbH 5 100% 100% Qrdinary Manufacturing and aale of goods
Bakelta ftaly Buyer S.p.A. & 100% 100% Qrd nary Holding company
Bakelita ftaka S p A, 7 100% 100% Qrd nary Manufactunng and sale of goods
Bakelita ibanca, S.A. 8 0% 180% Qrd nary Manufscturing and sale of goods
Bakalte Oy E] 100% 100% Ord narny Meanufacturing and sale of gocds
Bahkelite Synthatics India Prveta 10 100% 100% Ord nary Manulacturing and sale of goods
Limited {hdiract) {-ndirect)
Bakelte Chemicais LLC 1 100% 100% Ord nary Manufacturing and saie of goods
Bakeists Chile Holdoo Spa 12 100% 0% Ordinary Holding company
inversonas Bakalle Limitada (Chile} 12 100% 0% Ordinary Holding company
(indirect)
inversionsas Bakelite Sudamérca 12 100% 0% Ordinary Haotding company
Limitada {Chkie) (indhrect}
Bakelite Rosinas Lirnitada {Chila) 12 100% % QOrdinary Manufactunng and sale of goods
(indirect)
fasinas Concordia § rl (Argentina) 13 100% 0% Ordinary Manutaciuring and sale of goods
Jindiect)

1. Incorparated, registered and having its principal place of business in the United Kingdom, with its registered office beng Sully
Moars Road. Sully, Penarth, Wales, CF64 5YU.

2. Incorporated, registerad and having its principal place of business in the United States of America, with its registered office
being 1800 Meidinger Tower, Louisvilie, Kentucky 46202

3 Incorporated, regisiered and having #ts principal place of business in the Netherdands, with its registered office being
Chemiestraat 30, 3187 KB, Botlek Rotterdam.

4. Incorporated, registered and having its prnnapal place of business in the Netherfands, with its registered office being Seattleweg
17, building 4, 3195 ND Pemis, Rotterdam.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES {continued)

5. Incarporated, registered and having its principal place of business in Germany, with 1s regisiered office being Gennaer Strasse
2 — 4, 58642 1sedohn ~ Letmathe.
6 Incorporated, regisiered and having its principal place of business in italy, with its registered office being Vfia Alessandro
Manzoni 38, 20121 Mifano (MI).
7. hwurpursted, reglstered ang having g pancipal pisce of business in ltaly, with its registered office being Via Giuseppe Mazzini
104, 21058 Solp-ate Olona (VA}.
8. Incarporated, registered and having its principal place of business in Spain, with its registered office being C/antepardo no 9
Paoliganc Industrial de Lantaron, 01213 Lantaron, Araba/Alava
9. Incarporated, registered and having ds prncipal place of busineas in Finland, with its registered office being Kitee, Teollisuustlie
20 8 82430 Puhos,
10. Incorporated. registered and having #s pnncipal place of business in India, witn its regustered office being #1302, Tower-3, ONE
International Cenler, Senapali Bapat Marg, Elphinstone Road (West) Murmnbai - 400 013, Maharashtra.
. Incorporated registered and having its principal place of business in the Uniled States of America, with ils registered office
being 1040 Grown Pointe Pareway, Suite 700, Atianta, Georgia 30338,
12. Incarporated, registered and having its principal place of business in Chde, with its registered office being Cochrane 635 Edificio
Centro Plaza Torre AL 603 Concepcidn Chile.
13, Incorporated, registered and having its principal place of business in Argentina, with its registered office being José Ignacio
Rucchn 225 Parque industrial Concordia, entre Rios, 3200 Argentina.

1

-

Bakelite UK Intermediate Limited {Company registration number: 12846749), Bakelite UK Holding Limited {Company
registration number. 12815027), Bakel:te UK Buyer Sub Limited (Company registration number. 13158060), Bakelite
Synthetics UK Holding Limited (Company registration number, 11067567) Peach Holdco Limited (Company
registration number: 13743161) and Bakelite Synthetics UK Limited (Company registration number: D0BE7053) are
exemptl from the requirements to file audited financial statements by virtue cof section 479A of the Companies Act
20086. In adoping the exemption, Bakelte UK TopCo Ltd. has provided a statutory guarantee to these subsidiaries in
accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 20086.

18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

The graup has interests i two individually immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity methed.
Investments are summarised as follows at year ended 31 December 2022 and period from 7 October 2020 to 31
December 2021°

2022 2021

$'000 $'000

Balance on incorporation/{ January 7123 -
PSR business acquisikion - 46540
Earnings during the year/penod 4 674 2,483
Currency translation adjustment =~~~ {289) -
Balance as at 31 Dacember 11,508 7,123
Bakelite Shchekinoazot COO 11,372 6,987
Limaniemen Sahkolittyma Oy e 136 136
Balance as at 31 December 11,508 7,123

The investment in the Russian entity Bakelite Shchekinoazot 000 1s vatued based on the equity method, The
Company owns 50% of this joint venture. The investmaent in the Fimish enbly Liimaniemen Sahkolittyma Qy is valued
based on the equity method. The Company owns 33.33% of this joint venture,
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19  INVENTORIES

Inventories are summarised as foliows as of 31 December:

2022 2021
3000 $'000
Finishad goods 47,001 31,885
Raw materials 91,178 44 182
Obsolete reserve o , {3,425) {1,854
Total inventories 134,754 74,216

Management believes that the replacement values of inventories are not materially different to the carrying values
stated above. Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
$871.312,000 (2021: $338.604,000). These were included in ‘cost of sales’,

20 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets are summarised as follows as of December 31 ™

2022 2021

Group Company Group  Company

$'000 $000 $'000 $'000

intercompany loans - 498 - 495
Intercompany receivables - 1,301 - -
Prepaid insurances and taxes 12,270 - 3,782 -
Spare parts inventory 15,888 - 6,387 -
Other currentassets =~~~ 16,935 - 6,983 -
Total other current assets 39,093 1,798 17,162 495

The Group has maintenance spare parts used at the manufacturing locations, These spare parts are expensed when
consumed. They afe classified as current assels as they exist for usage in current operations. Other current assets
exist for the most of prepayments to vendars for the purchase of raw materials.

The intercompany loan receivabla from Bakelite UK Holding Ltd., in the amount of $458,000 on 31 December 2022
{2021: $495,000) is part of the zera balancing agreement between Bakalite UK Holding 1.td. {as Cash Pool Leader)
and tha Company. This loan is interest bearing against the deposit interest rate. This deposil interest rate is
determined on the 3 months EURIBOR, minus 95 basis points, In the event the fixed percentage amount cannot be
applied, since it will result in a negative interest percentage, the cash pool participants shall be ensured with a
minimum interest rate, based upon market conditions, as determined by Bakelite's treasury department.

intercompany receivables are amounts due from Group Companies for services perfarmed in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for settfement within 30 days and are therefore classified as current. Due to the
short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.
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21 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivatles consisted of the following as of 31 December 2022 and 2021,

2022 2021

$'000 $000

trade recevables 129,077 81,045
Loss allowance {1,561) (1,254)
Trade receivables net 127,516 89,791
Other receivables e _...8983% . B380
Total Accounts Recelvable 136,448 98,151

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 120 days and are therefore classified as current, Trade receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is uncoenditional. The Company holds the trade receivables
with the abjective of collecting the contractual cash flows. The Company believes that the carrying amounts of

accounts receivable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturites.

The Company recorded a loss allowance of $1,.561,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021: $1,254,000), to reduce
accounts receivable to ther estimated net realisaple value. Accounts receivable balances are written-off against the

provision if @ final determination of uncolectability is made,
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21, TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was detemined as follows for trade receivabies:

2022 7021
Gross
carrying Gross carrying
Expecled  amount trade Loss Expected amount irade Loss
logs rate receivabl A ce loss rale receivatles allowance
% $000 $'000 % $'000 $'000
Current 0.00% 126,840 2 0.01% 87848 5
Maore than 30 days past due 0.12% 471 1 0.62% 1,272 8
Maore than 60 days past due 0.88% 209 1 7.40% 738 54
More than 120 days pastdue  100,00% 1,557 1,557 100.00% 1,187 1,187
Total 129,077 1,561 81,045 4,254

The apeing analysis of the provision for impairment is as follows as at 31 December:

2022 2021

$:000 $'000
Up to 3 months 2 28
3 to 6 months 2 39
Over 6 months o 1557 1,187
Total Accounts Receivable 1,561 1,254

Movement on the ioss allowance of trade receivables are as follows al year ended 31 December 2022 and period
from 7 October 2020 to 31 December 2621 o
Year ended Period from 7
31 October 2020t

December 31 Dacamber
2022 2021
$000 $000
Balance on incorporation/1 January 1,254 -
PSR business acquisition - 1,266
Provision for receivables impairment 345 62
Exchange differences O .- S (i
Balance as at 31 December 1,561 1,254

The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts receivables denominated in foreign currencies were as follows as at
31 December.

2022 2021

'000 ‘000
US Dollar 87 032 28,850
Euros 35,885 48,510
UK pound steriing 12,313 20,607
indian rupee . - L 108 O
Balance as at 31 December 136,448 98,151

Page 56 of 79



Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Notes 10 the consolidated and company financial statements 31 Decamber 2022

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents for the Group consisted of the following as of 31 December 2022 and 2021

2022 2021
£000 $000
Cash at bank and in hand 15,331 11,889
Restinled cash ) i 1,456 858
Balance as at 31 December 16,787 12,847

The Company considers all highly liquid investments that are purchased with an original maturity of three montihs or
less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted cash represents deposits to secure certain bank guarantees issued to third parties to guarantee potential
obligations of the Company. These balances wiil remain restricted as long as the underlying exposures exist and are
included in the Consolidated Balance.

23 INTEREST BEARING LOANS

interest bearing loans consisted of the following as of 31 December 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
Non-currant
Bank loans 477,725 157.810
Amortised debt issue costs - {18,380} . (8816)
Bank loan less issue costs 4358 345 150,994
Revolving credit agreement L 37,300 - 19,824
Total non-current 496 645 170,818
Current
Bank loans e s e ... .BE0 1,602
Total current 4 850 1,602
Balance as at 31 Decembar 501,495 172,420

On 30 Aprit 2021, the Company enterad into a Credit Agreement with a group of Lenders for an Initial EUR Term
Lean in the amount of EUR 62,000,000 {$75,000,000} and an Initial USD Term Loan of $380,000,000 for the purpose
of financing the PSR Acquisition. The debt was issued at an original issuance discount of $3,800,000. The deferred
financing fees were $4,503,000. The total amount of debt issuance and discount fees was $8,103,000. The Company
also entered into a Revolving Loan commitment with a maximum borrowing capacity of $30,000,000. The Term
Loans and the Revoiving Loan commitment matures on the earliest to occur of (1Y 30 April 2026, (i) the date the loan
agreements are permanently reduced to zero {iii) the date of termination of the loan agreements.

Commencing 30 Septerber 2021 the Term Loans are scheduled to be repaid on the last day of each March, June,
Septermber and December in the quarterly amount of € 155,000 ($187,000) and $225,000 prior to the Term Loan
maturity date. Borrowings under the Term Loans bear interest at an Annual Base Rate of 6.50% for the Initial EUR
Term Loan and 7.50% for the Initial USD Term Loan respectively, as defined under the Credit Agreement.

The Company will pay a commitment fee of 0.50% on the average daily unused commitments under the revolving
credit facility. The Company is also required to pay customary letter of credit fees, as well as fronting fees, to banks
lhat issue letters of credit. Borrowings may be voluntarily prepaid without premium and penalty at any time. The Term
Loan also provides for various mandatory prepayments Substant-ally all of the Company's assets are pledged as
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23. INTEREST BEARING LOANS (continued)

collateral against the obligations under the Credit Agreement. As per the Credit Agreemaent. the Company agrees to
certain affirmative and negative covenants.

The Company was In compliance with all financial covenants as of 31 December 2021. In an event of a default in
regard to principat and/or interest. the Company will be responsible for 2.0% plus the rate applicable to the Annual
Base Rate Loan of the overdue amount. At year end 31 December 2021. the Company borrowed $19,824, 000 from
the revolving credit facility. The Company has available borrewing capacity of $10,176,000 at 31 December 2021,
There were no outstanding letters of credit at 31 December 2021

Repayment of loans

These loans were repaid on 27 May 2022 as a result of the Georgia Pacific refinancing project. The Company repaid
$159,161,000 and $35 374,000 for the Term Loans and the Revalving Lean commitment, respectively. The debt
extinguishment loss amounted to $5 453,000 and was recorded under Acquisition-related costs in the Consolidated
Income Statement.

Refinancing of iong term debt

On 27 May 27 2022, the Company entered into a Credit Agreament with a group of lenders for an Initial USD Term
Loan of $485, 000,000 for the purpose of financing the Geargia Pacific’s Phenolics acquisition. The debt was issued
at an original issuance discount of $12 027,000. The deferred financing fees were $1,023,000. The total amount of
debt issuance and discount fees was $20,050,000. The Company also antered into a Revolving Loan commitment

with a raximum borrowing capacity of $10¢,000,000.

The Term Loan matures in 2029. The Revolving Loan commitment matures in 2027, Commencing 30 September
2022, the Term Loan is scheduled to be repaid on the last day of each March, June, September and December in the
quarterly amount of $1,213,000 prior to the Term Loan maturity date. The Term Lean bears interest at a rate thal
fluctuates with Adjusted Term SOFR, plus a Spread of 3.75% or 4.00% based upon the first tien net leverage ratio.
The actual rate per 31 December 2022 was 7.67%. The Revaolving Loan bears interest at a rate that fluctuates with
Adjusted Term SOFR, plus a Spread between 1.50% to 2.00% based on quarterly average excess availability. The
waighted average rate as of 31 December 2022 was 5.88%.

The Company will pay a commitment fee of 0.375% on the average daily unused commitments under the revolving
credit facifity. The Company is also fequired fo pay customary letter of credit fees, as well as franting fees, to banks
that issue letters of credit. Borrowings may be voluntarily prepaid without premium and penalty at any time. The Term
Loan also provides for various mandatory prepayments Substantially all of the Company's assets are pledged as
collateral against the obligations under the Credit Agreement. As per the Credit Agreement, the Company agrees to
certain affirmative and negative covenants. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants as of 31
December 2022 and 2021 respectively. In an event of a default in ragard to principal and/or interest, the Company
will be responsible for 2.0% plus the rate applicable to the Annual Base Rate Loan of the overdug amount. At year
end 31 December 2022 the Company borrawed $37,300,000 from the revolving credit facility and has available
barrowing capacity of $62.700.000. There were no outstanding letters of credit at 31 December 2022.
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23, INTEREST BEARING L.OANS (continued)

The below lable sets out the aggregate maturities of the principal amounts of the Company's long term debt based on
the confractual matunties at 31 December 2022, for each of the next five years, and thereafter is as foliows as of 31
December

2022

$'000
2023 4.850
2024 4,850
2025 4,850
2026 ) , . .4,850
2027 L 4,850
Alerfiveyesars e 458,325
Total 482 575
Less. debtissuance and discount fees ) e .{18,380)
Total 484,135
Short term . e . o .. {aB50)
Total Iong term debt 459,345

Defarred Financing Costs

Deferred debt financing cosls are included in "Long-term debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These costs are
amorised over the life of the related deb!t or credit facility using the effective interest method. Upon extinguishment of
any debt, the related debt issuance costs are written off,

The Company accounted for a realised foreign exchange gain on the debt of $2,753,000 at 31 December 2022. The
Company accounted for an unrealised foreign exchange gan on the debt of $4,805,000 at 31 December 2021.

24 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax assets and habilties are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax habiltties and when deferred income tax assets and habiitres relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entibes where there 1s an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis. The amounts concermned at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows

2022 7021

$000 $000
Deferrad tax assots
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 9,691 9,086
Deferred tax assats to be recovered after mere than 12 months 10,206 1,496
Total deferred tax assets T 19 897 10,592
Deferred tax ltabilities
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months (1.133) (82)
Deferred tax assets to be recavered after more than 12 months {35,432) (24,659}
Total deferred tax liabilities o (36,565)  (24,751)

Deferred tax Ilabiiitles not (16,668)  (14,159)
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The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows at year ended 31 December 2022 and penod
from 7 October 2020 to 31 December 2021.

Opening  GP business Deferred  Change to Rate Exchange Ending
balance acquisition tax In OCH income change ditferances balance
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $°000
Assats
Met operating loss carry 1485 4,521 - 3,360 - 186 9,563
forwards
interest kmitations - - - {440) 898 17 475
Accrued payroli 4.769 - (3,846} 4,185 69 {435) 4,752
Reserves and other 334 - - 211 30 - 575
accruals
Bad debl 13 - - - - 13
Prepaid 365 - {364) - (1) -
Goodwill - - 168 - - 168
Other DTA - - 125 420 - 545
Accrued expanses . 3815 _ 84 241 {134 3,806
Defarrad tax assats 10,582 4,521 (3,846} 7,339 1,658 {367) 19,887
Liabilities
Property, plant ard (21,271) {4,627} - {4,282) (444) 1087 {29,537)
equipment
Goodwill (267) - - 71 (449) 5 -
infangible assets {3,121) (3,998) - 945 - 229 {5,945)
Prepaids - - - (406) (46} (1) (453)
Others . 8 - - {536) { LA 1830)
Dofarrod tax liabititics _{24,781) (8,625} - {3,569} (939} 1,319 {36,565}
Deferred mﬂt_)ilmea nat {14,159) (4,104} {3,846) 3,771 718 952 {18,668)
31 Dacamber 2021
Opening PSR business Change to Rate Exchange Ending
batance acquisition income change differances balance
astatement
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 5000 $'000
Assots -
Net aperating loss carny forwards - 1,162 568 (234) 1.496
Accrued payrofl - 5,380 (148) - (4633) 4,769
Reserves and ather accruals - - 334 - 334
Bad debt - - 13 - 13
Prepaid - 552 {(161) - {26) 365
Actrued expenses - 1,858 1,707 57 {187} 3615
Deforred tax assets - 9,052 2313 57 (830} 10,592
Liabliitias
Property, plant and equipment - (19,984} (475} (1.650) 833 (21.271)
Goodwill - - (269) B 2 (267)
Intangible assets - {3,070} {199) - 148 (3.121})
Others _ . - _ {80} en .. - 5 192}
Deaferred tax ilabiiitien - (23,114} {831) (1,650} 994 {24,751}
Deferred tax liabllitios net - {14,062} 1,332 {1,593 164 {14,159)
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24, DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES {(continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profit is probable. The Company did not recognize deferred income tax assets of $21,622,000 (2021:
$11,808,000) mainly in respect of tax losses amounting o $9,563 000 (2021. $5,517,000), primarily arising in
Germany, Spain and the U3, thal may be carried forward against lulure taxable incame, as the likely timing of
recovery s Cons dered uncertain.

Examlnation of Tax Returns

The Company conducts business glohally, and. as a result. certain of its subsidiaries file income tax returns in fareign
junsdictions. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examinations by taxing authorities
thraughout the world. including major jurisdictions such as Argentina Chili. Finland. Germany, ltaly, Spain and the
United Kingdom.

With minor exceptions, the Lompany's closed tax years for major jurisdictions are years prior to: 2018 for Argentina,
2016 for Chili, 2018 for Finland, 2017 for Germany. 2018 for ltaly, 2017 for Spain and 2018 for the United Kingdom.

Unrecognised tax benefits

As of 31 December 2022 the Company had recorded a kability for unrecognised tax benefits, including its accrual for
interest and penalties, of $530,000 (2021: $480,000). The Company does not expect a significant increase or
decrease in uncertain tax positions within the next 12 months.
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2022 2021

$'000 $000
Non-current
Defined benefit plan pension provision 20.724 33,145
Other pians 326 224
Jubilee plans 530 749
Otherlong term liabilies 1224
Total non-current employee heneflt obligations 21,592 34,142
Current
Peansian provision 247 189
Other plans 169 58
Accrued bonuses 6,817 9,827
Accrued vacation reserve 2,354 1,966
Accrued other employee benefit obligatons . . 2,730 1117
Total current employes benefit obligations 12,317 13,187
Balance as at 31 December 33,969 47,299

25.1 Penslon and Other Non-Pension Postratiremant Benefit Liabllities

The Group sponsors defined benefit pension plans in Germany and ftaly in which ceitain empioyees of the Group
participate. Benefits under these plans are generally based on eligible compensation and for years of credited
service. Retirement benefits in other foreign locations are primanly structured as defined contribution plans.

Pension and other nan-pension postretirement benefit ("OPEB") assumplons are significant inputs to the actuarial
models that measure pensicn and OPEB benefit obligations and related effects on aperations. The Company
evaluates critical assumptions at least annually on a plan and country-spec:fic basis The Company pericdically
evaluates other assumptions involving demographic factors, such as retirement age moHality and turnover, and
updates them ta reflect the Company’s experience and expectations for the future. Actual results n any given year
wilf often differ from actuanal assumptions because of economic and other factors,

Accumulated and projected benefit obligations are measured as the present value of future cash payments. The
Company discounts these cash payments using a split-rate interest approach. This approach uses multiple interest
rates from market-observed forward yield curves which correspond to the estimated timing of the related benefit
payments. Lower discount rates increase present vatues and higher discount rates decrease present values.

Upon the Company’s annual remeasurement of its pension and OPEB fiabilties in the fourth quarter, or on an interim
basis as tiggering events warrant remeasurement, the Company immediately recognizes gains and losses as a
mark-lo-market {"MTM") gain or logs through other comprehensive income. As such, the Company's net periodic
pension and QPEB expense cansists of i) service cost, interest cost and prior service cost/credits recognised on a
quarterly basis and ii} MTM agjustments recognised annually in the fourth quarter upon remeasuremant of pension
and OPEB liabilities or when triggering events warrani remeasurement.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

25.1 Pension and Other Non-Penslon Postretirement Benefit Liabilities {continued)

The movement in the pension tiability and pension expenses can be broken down as follows:

Pension plan Other plans Total
$'000 3$'000 $'000
Balance on incorporation - - .
PSR business acguisitton 37.083 310 37,383
Current service cost 1,015 - 1.015
interest expense — e VB8 T 88
Total amount recognised in Income statement 1,180 - ___ 1,180
Remeasurement gains for changs in actuanal assumptions {3.894) - (3,894)
Experience logses L 583 ) .. ... 5683
Total amount recagnised in other comprehensive income (3,331) - “ {3,331
Benefits pard directly by employer (24) - (24)
DOther adjustments 596 (8) 588
Currency translation adjustments (2,170} (20) _g2.190)
Balance as at 31 Decamber 2021 33,334 282 33,618
Georgia Pacific business acquisition - 93 Tog3
Current service cost t.267 - 1,267
Interest expense o e 366 - o ...3e6
Total amount racognised in income statement 1,633 - 1,633
Remeasurement gains for change in actuanal assumptions {11.098) - (11,098)
Experience gains [ -1 4 N - {€17)
Total amount recagnised in other comprehonsive income {11,715} - {11,715)
Benefits paid drectly by employer (222} - (222)
Other adjusiments - 141 141
Currency translation adjusiments S 2089 22} {2,081}
Balance as at 31 Decamber 2022 20,971 454 21,465
The weighted average rates to determine the benefit obligation was as follows at year end:
2022 2021
Garmany faly Germany Italy
Discount rate 3.62% 3.9% 1.29% 0.86%
Rate of compensation increase 3.00% - 3.00% -
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

The weighted average rates to detemmine the berefit cost was as follows at year end

2022

31 Dacernbar 2022

2021

Germany Italy Germany Haly

Discount rate 1.29% 0.86% 0.83% -

Rate of compensation increase 3.00% - 3.00% -
Tha sensitivity of the defined benefit obligaton to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is.

Germany {taty

$'000 %000

increase of discount rate by 100 basis points (4,417) {29)

Decrease of discount rate by 100 basis points 5,552 37

Increase of salary increase rate by 50 basis paints 188 -

Decrease of salary increase rate by 50 basis points (182) -

Increase of pension increase rate by 25 basis points 865 -

Decrease of pension increase rate by 25 basis points (B20) -

Life expectancy increase by 1 year 636 -

Life expectancy decrease by 1 year (653) -

The follawing table shows the breakdown of the defined benefit abligation by country.

Period from 7

Year onded 31  October 2020 to 31

December 2022 Dacember 2024

$'000 $000

Germany 20,087 32,089

Maly 94 1,265

Total definad beneflt obligation 20,971 33,334
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26. PROVISIONS

Provisions consisted of the following as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 ...

2022 2021
$'000 $000
Non-currant
Contingent cansideration . 10,746
Envituimneikal 1eseve 1,882 1,588
Other long term Eabilities 735 814
Uncertain tax positions reseive e UV, N 523
Total non-current provisions 3,077 13,671
Current
Contingent considetation - 1,387
Environmental reserve 126 145
Restructuring reserve 1,408 2,381
Other current provisions o ) AT 124
Total current provisions 1,652 4,037
Balance as at 31 December 4,728 17,708
26.1 Contingent conslderation
The following table summarises the movement in the contingent consideration dunng the year/period:
Pariod from 7
Your endaed October 2020 to
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
$'000 $'000
Contingent consideration
Balance on incorporation/1 January 12,133 -
PSR Business acquisition - 13,200
Additions 7,887 -
Unused amounts reversed - {713)
Reclassification to short term liabilities (20,004} -
Currency translation adjustments e - {354)
Balance as at 31 Dacember - 12,133
Current - 1,387
Non-curment . L L L e T 10,746
Balance as at 31 December - 12,133

On 30 April 2021, the Group completed the purchase of all of the assets of the PSR Business from Hexion. The
contingent consideration was based on the performance of the Group over the 32 months period after completion of
the sale. At 31 December 2021, the Group has detemmined the fair value of the contingent consideration to be

$12 133,000, a reduction of $713,000 from the acquisition date.
At 31 December 2022, the Group adjusted the contingent consideration to the final setttement am

ount of

$20 000.000. The contingent consideration was reclassified from long term and short term provision to current
liabilties 1n 2022 as it will be paid in 2023 in accordance with the final settiement agreement dated 24 March 2023,
The $7 867,000 additional amount has been charged to Sales, general and adminisirative expenses within the
Income Statement. From the armouat of $20,000,000. $14 000,000 has been paid out in March 2023. $6,000,000 will

be paid out in September 2023.
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26. PROVISIONS (continued)

26.2 Environmantal reserve

The following teble summarises the movement in the environmental reserve during the year/period:

2022 2021

$°000 $'000
Environmental reserve
Balance on incarporation/1 January 1.733 -
PSR Business acquisition - 1,637
Additional provision 865 164
Release of provision {2073 -
Used amounts during the year/period {375) {46)
Currency transiation adjustments e (28) {22
Balance as at 31 December 1,988 1,733
Current 126 145
Non-cyrrent e e 1ee2 1588
Balance as at 31 December 1,988 1,733

The Group recognises a liability for environmental remediation when it bekteves it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount can be reasonably esfmated. The liabilities are developed based on cumrently available
information and are recorded at undiscounted amounts. While the Group cannot reasonably estimate potential
liabilites beyond those recorded, it is possible that additional liabilities may exist and become known in the future.

Georgia Pacific Phenolics Business

The Group is involved in envifonmental remediation activities at two sités acquired through the Georgia Pacific's
Phendlics Busingss acquisition, where there have been nolifications that the Group is a potentially responsible party
("PRP") under the United States Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compeansation and Liability Act
("CERCLA"} or similar state "superfund" laws. Remediation activities include monitoring of natural attenuation and
potential future ciosure of the *bio-pond” at one of the two facilities. The ultimate costs to the Group for the
investigation, remediaton and monitonng of many of these sites cannoct be predicted with certainty, due to the often
unknown nature and magnitude of the pollution or the necessary cleanup the varying costs of altermnative cleanup
methods, the amount of time necessary to accomplish the cleanups, the evalving nature of cleanup technologies and
govemmental reguiations, all of which factors are taken into account to the extent possible in estimating its liabilities.
The Group has reserved $795,000 at 31 December 2022

ACME site North Carolina

The Group has a reserve in the US for soil excavation and monitored natural attenuation for groundwater, and
capping and grading the on-site monofilt if the excavaled soil can be disposed n the monofill. The reserve refers 1o
the Wright Chemical Corporation Superfund site. The EPA placed the Acme, NC site and surrounding area (a total of
more than 758 acres) on the Superfund program National Prigrities List ("NPL") in 2011, The Group has reserved a
self-asserted 1/3 share of the estimated remediation costs amounting to $1,154,000 at 31 Decamber 2022 {2021:
$1,400 000).

Solbiate site Haly

Sail and groundwater contamination were discovered In August 1998 at the Group's facidity in ltaly. The
contamination relates to the cumene manufactuning plant located an the east portion of the site, which ceased in
1969, and phenol production plant, which ceased in 1992 The former owner performed significant remediation
between 1999 and 2016, when the agency determined that no further soil remediation was needed, although
continued groundwater monitonng and containment is needed. Groundwater containment is performed using current
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on-site indusinal wells and 4 separately constructed extraction weils, along with collection trench. During the fiscal
year the reserve was released. The Group has no reserve at 31 December 2022 (2021: 300,000).

Hernani site Spain

In Spain, baseline sampling occurred in early 2019 and detected elevated focalised concentrations of total petroleum
hydrocarbons ("TPH™) in soil and groundwaler, and arsenic, naphthatene. fluoranthene, PCB, formaldehyde,
phenanihrene, copper, mercury and benzene in groundwater. TPH was suspected to result from motor oil, and the
formaldehyde concentrations were near the formaldehyde storage area. The source of naphthalene and PCB do not
appear to be from on-site activities. Periodic sod and groundwater moenitoring is required. The Group has reserved
$39,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021 $100 000).

26.3 Uncertain tax positions reserve

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021 the Group had recorded a liability for unrecogmised tax benefits, including its
accrual for interast and penaities. The Group does not expect a significant increase or decrease in uncertain tax
posttions within the next 12 manths.

Period from 7
Year anded October 2020 to
31 Dacember 31 Recember
2022 2021
$'00C $'000

Uncertain tax positions reserve
Balance on incorporation/t January 523 -
Business acquistion - 1,934
Used amounts dunng the year 5 (1.374)
Currency translation adjustments e 1) SO 14
Balance as at 31 December 480 523

26.4 Restructuring reserve

At 31 December 2022 the Group had a reserve of $1,409,000 (2021: $2,381,000) related to severance costs and
other related expenses. The reserve 15 aimed at faciies in Germany, Great Britain and the US. The restruclunng
program in Germany is for reducing research and development activities. The reserve in Great Britain is far
restructuring the manufacturing activity in Eurape. In the US the Group has a reserve to restructure the manufacturng
activities in fight of the acquisition of Georgia-Pacific. The Group recorded $5,123,000 of restructuring expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 $3,738,000).

Pariod fram 7
Yoar anded Cctobar 2020 to
31 December 31 Cecembar
2022 2021
$'000 $'00¢

Restructuring reserve
Balance on incorporat on/1 January 2,381 -
PSR Business acquisition - 84
Additional provision 1,758 3,632
Unused amounts reversed (257) {689)
Used amounts during the year (2,422} {452)
Currency transiation adjustments T .- I L)
Balance as at 31 December 1,408 2,381
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables consisted of the following as of 31 Decembaer 2022 and 2021,

2022 2021

%000 $'000

Trade payables 122710 103.671
Other payables o e I . 1,257 .
Total trade and other payabies 123,967 104,212

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair vaiues due to the short-
term nature. Trade payables are unsecured and ate usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

28. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other current liabilities consisted of the following as of 31 December 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Group Company Group Company

3000 $'000 $'000 $0G0

Contingent consideration 20.000 - - -
Accrued customer rebates 3,102 - 4.023 -
Accrued professional services 1,226 - 870 8
Accrued ublities 372 - 1,298 -
Payroll taxes 3.405 - 2,895 -
VAT 1.673 - 2,456 -
Accrued other taxes 1.215 - 1,014 -
Other current liabilities ——. ... . 8918 - 2,165 -
Total other current liabtities 35 668 N 14,721 -]

The carrying amounts of other current liabiities are considered to be the same as their fair vaiues due to the short-
term nature.

Page 68 of 79



Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated and company financial statements ) 31 December 202;

29. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Movements in Share Capital and Share Premium consisted of the following at year ended 31 December 2022 and
period frem 7 October 2020 to 31 December 2021

Number of Par vaiue Share Total
shares premium

On incofpotation 7/10/2020 100,000 £100,000 - £100.000
Allotment of shares 12/11/2020 100,000 £100,000 - £100.000
Consolidation of shares 22/4/2021 400 . E200000 - £200,000
Redenomination of shares 22/4/2021 400 $276,800 - $276,800
Subdivision of shares 22/4/2021 276,800 $276,800 - $275,800
Allotment of shares 28/4/2021 1681232  $1.681232 $166.441.968  $1688,123200
Balance as at 31 December 2021 1,958,032 $1,958,032 $166,441,968  $168,400,000
Allpiment of shares 27/05/2022  1,540.400 $1,540400  $136459,600  $138,000,000
Balance as at 31 December 2022 3,438,432 $3,498 432 $302,901,568 $306,400,000

29.1 Share Capital

Share Capital consists of 3,488,432 (2021: 1,958,032} shares with 3 nominal value of $1 per share. 3,498,432 shares
were authonsed to be issued. The total Share Capital has been fully paid. The shares have attached to them full
voting, dividend and capital distribution rights. they do not confer any rights of redemption. The following entities
owned by Black Diamond Capital Management, LLC and Investindustrial Investment Holdings S.4.r.l. hold the
fallowing number of shares-

Shareholder T Number of shares

2022 2021
Fusion Investment S.a.r.l 1,749,216 979,016
Fusion BD Opportunity Fund V Holthngs LLC 1,410,290 856,633
Fusion BD Opportunity Fund IV Holdings LLC e, 338,926 . 122377
Total 3,498,432 1,958,032
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29,2 Share premium

On 27 May 2022, Biack Diamond Capital Management, LLC and Investindustrial investment Moidings S.a.r l. invested
$136,459,600 into the Group. On 30 April 2021, Black Diamond Capital Management, LLC and Investindustrial
Investment Holdings 5.a.rl. invested $166,442, 000 into the Group. The ampunts have been accounted for as Share
premium. The below table shows the total invested amounts per company In actual amounts as at 31 Decembar 2022
and 2021

31 December 2022

Shareholder Share Capital Share premium Total
$000 $000 $'6G0

Fusion Investment S.a.r.l. 1,749 151,452 153,201
Fusion BD Opportunity Fund V Holdings LLC 1,410 121,864 123,274
Fusion BD Opportunity Fund IV Holdings LLC 338 29,588 29,825
Total 3,498 302,902 306,400
T T 31 December 2021
Sharsholder Share Capital Share premium Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Fusion lnvestment S.a.r. 979 83,222 84,201
Fusion BD Opportunity Fund V Haldings LLC 857 72,818 73,675
Fusion BD Opportunity Fund IV Holdings LLC 22 o 10402 10,524
Total 1,958 166,442 168,400
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30. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS PLAN (SARs)

Effective 1 May 2021, the Company adopted the Bakelite Synthetics Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (“the Plan”)
pursuant to which the Company's board of directors (Administrator) shall select officers, key employees, directars of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to participate in the plan. The Plan shalt be administered by the Administrator.
The Administrator s the Board or a duly appointed committee of the Board.

Sulyedl lu the lunitatwns of this Plan, the Administrator shall have the sole and complete authority to: (i) select
Participants, {if) grant SARs to Participants in such amaunts as it determines, (i) determine Fair Market Value and
Grant Price, (iv) impose such limitations, restrictions and conditions upan such SARS not inconsistent with the terms
of this Plan, as it deems appropriate, (v) determine the extent to which performance conditions set forth in any Award
Agreement have been achieved, (v) interpret this Plan and adopt, amend and resaind administrative guidelnes and
other rules and regulations relating to this Plan, (vii) correct any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in
this Plan or in any SARs granted hereunder or in any Award Agreement executed pursuant to this Plan and (viii}
make all other determinations and take all other actigns necessary or advisable for the implementation and
administration of this Plan

Tne Admimistrator shalt have the sole discretion to determine whether to deliver cash or shares of share capital {(or a
combination thereof) upon the exercise of a $SARs, which sole discretion may be exercised al the time of such
aexarcise, The Administrator's determinations on matters within its authority shall be conclusive and binding upon the
Participants, the Company, its Subsidiaries and afl other Persons. All expenses associated with the administration of
this Plan shall be borne by the Company. Tha Administratar may, to the extent permitted by law and the Company's
articies of incorporation and by-laws, delegate any of its autherity hereunder to a committee of the Administrator or
such other Person{s) as it deems appropriate. Any such delegation shall be for such pericd and upen such terms and
conditions as determined by the Administrator from time to time.

The Plan allowed for the issuance of 144 723 SARs granted for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 131,953)
Each Stock Appreciation Right shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement specifying the number of SARs granted,
the Grant Price, the Grant Date, the vesting schedule and such other terms and conditions, including perfermance
conditipns (if any), not inconsistant with the terms of this Plan as the Administrator, in its sole discration, shall
determine. All stock rights have a term not greater than fifteen years. SARs vest and become exercisabla in whole or
in part, in accordance with vesting conditions set by the Company’s board of directors. Options granted to date
generally vest over four years from the date of grant

Share-based expense is recognised as a component of selling general, and admmustrative expense The Company
measures and records expense related to all stock awards based on the grant date fair value of the awards. Expenss
for the service based options is recognised over the requisite service period. If grants are equity-treated then the
offset to expense is equity. Expense related to service options was $1,277 000 in 2022 (2021: $13,000). The fair
value of each option award granted to an employee with SARs :s estimated on the date of grant. The Company has
service based SARs outstanding as of 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the year anded 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair values of the SARs were estimated using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model Determining fair value using the Black-Scholes option valuation model involves the

following:

- Valuation and amortisation method: Fair value is estimated gach reporting period using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. The Company amortises the fair value on a straight-line basis over the vasting period,

-~ Expected term: The Company estimates the expected term to be the remaining contract term.

- Volatility, The Company estimates the volalility of its share capital by measunng the weighted-average historical
volatility of the share capital prices of certain idenbfied peer or comparable companies that are publicly traded and
that have a stock price histery that is appropriate to the term that the Company is measuring.
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— Risk-free interest rate. The nsk-free interest rate that the Company uses in the Black-Scholes option valuation
model is the implied yield in effect based on U.S Treasury zero-coupon, with a remaining term approximately
aquivalent to the expected term of the grants

- Dividend yield: The Company does not anticipate paying any routine periedic cash dividends on share capial in the
foreseeable future. Consequantly, a dividend y-eld of zero in the Black-Scholas option valuation model is used.

- Estimating forfeitures The Company recognises forfeitures when they occur.

Variables used to determine the fair value of the awards granted during those respechve periods are as follows:

Paticd trom 7
Gctober 2020 to
Yoar ended 31 31 December

December 2022 2021
Expected dividends % -%
Expected volatility 35% 5%
Risk free interes| rate 3.2% 2.2%
Expected fife 8.75 years 8.75 years

To estimate the expected SARs referred to above, Bakelite Synthetics primanly used the simplified methed as the
awards were granted at farr value and Bakelite Synthetics, a privately-held company, has no exercise history. Based
upon this simpiified method the options have an expected term of 8.75 years. Expected life calculations for Service
Options granted during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 reflect the simplified method, adjusted to refiect
measurement periods that are aligned with annuai reporting periods. The risk-free rates for periods within the
expectad fife of the awards are based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Bakelite Synthetics does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future and, therefore use an
expected dividend yield of zero. Volalility is based upan peer groups as the Company is privately-held. As Bakelite
Synthetics is not publicly traded, the market value of the stock was estimated based upon either the Acquisition
transaction, third-party valuations, or a combination thereof.

SARs activity for Service Ophions for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 1s as fallows:

Weighted average Vveighted average remaining Aggregate

Service opticns Options exersise price contraciual life (years)  intrinsic value
$ $

Balance at incorporation - - - .
Granted 131.953 79.12 8.75 3591
Exercised - - _ .
Expired forteited - - - -
Cutstanding as of 31 December 2021 131,953 78,12 B8.75 35.91
Granted 12,770 7812 8.75 38.02
Exercised - - R .
Expired forfeted - - - -
Outstanding ss of 31 Dacember 2022 144,723 79.92 8.75 16.10

The per-share weighted average grant-date fair value of awards granted during the year ended 31 Decamber 2022
was $36.10 (2021: $35.91). As of 31 December 2022 there was approximately $3,933,000 (2021: 54,725,000) of total
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unrecognised compensation cost refated to non-vested share-based compensalion arrangements for service based
awards. The cost is expected to be recognised over a pericd of 4 years for service based awards. At 31 December
2022, 32,588 grants were exercisable (2021. Q).
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31, CASH GENERATED/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

Yoar anded 31 December Pcriodifin;m{acto—b;

2022 2020 to 31 Dacembar
2021
Group _Compary Group Company
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
{LossyProfitbeforetax (57,763} 81 (32083 LA
Adjustments for
Current service cost — emplayee benefit obligation 1,387 - 1,180 -
Depreciation and armartisation 49,915 - 16,358 -
Loss on sale of assets 776 - 721 -
Drepreciation on right-of-use assets 4,444 B 2,620 -
Income from investmants accounted for on the equity method (4.674) . (2,483} -
Unrealised foreign exchange gain (1,385) (39) (5.019) -
Foreign exchange gain on retirement of long term debt (2.752) - - -
Amortisation of debit discount and financing feas 2,109 - 1,288 -
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 7.867 - (713) -
Amortisation of lnventory step up 2120 - 3,575 -
Loss on extinguishment of debt 6,452 . ~ -
Stock based compensation expense 1280 - - -
Net finance cost 26,385 - 9515 -
Changes in working capital
Accounts receivable 25819 - {9.850) -
Inventories 8218 - (25,725} -
Accounts payable (36,544) - 30,243 -
Other assets, Current and Noncurrent 345 (30 (2,015) -
Other liabifities, current and non-gurcent {7,026} 4 10,183 .
Net cash generated from/{used in) operations 26,993 (4) (2,225) {1)

In the statemeant of cash flows, proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Group Pariod from
7 October

Yeoar ended 2020 to 31

31 Dscamber Dacambar

2022 2021

$'000 $'000

Net beok value 776 1,624
Loss on the disposal of property, plant and equipment R L) {721y

Proceeds from disposal of property, piant and aquipment - 203

Non-cash transactions
The MNan-cash transactions were the contingent consideration and the capital expenditures included in accounts
payable.
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32, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with Joint Ventures

The Group buys electricity services from the Joint Venture Liimaniemen Saghkoeliittymae Oy in Finland. Purchases
were $1,144 000 for the year anded 31 December 2022 (2021: $80%,000) and are included in the income statement
Accounts payable o joint ventures and awounts receivable from joint ventures were zero as at 31 December 2022

{2021: $0). The Group has a loan receivable cutstanding with the operating company Bakelite Shchekinoazot OO0

located in Russia. The loan amounts to $1,252,000 at 3t December 2022 (2021 $3,370,000).

Transactions with Shareholders

Al 31 December 2022, the Group has an accrual of $5 000,000 for management fees payable to Shareholders, which
is Included in other payables in the consalidated statements of financial position. The full amount of $5,000 000 was
recognized as expense during the year ended 31 December 2022, and 1s recerded under other operating expenses in
the consclidated income statement

On 12 April 2021, the Group sighed an agreement with its shareholders for the CFIUS indemnification of $1.000,000.
The clearance was one of the conditions for the purchase of the PSR business.

Transactions with Group companies
At 31 Dacember 2022 and 2021 the Company has an intercompany balance ouistanding with Bakelite UK Holding
Ltd. Reference is made to nole 20.

Remuneration of key management personne!

The key management personnel are considered as the directors of the Company only. At 31 December 2022, the
Group has an accrual of $352,000 for board fees payable to board members (2021: $690,000), which is included in
‘current liabilities' in the consolidated statements of financial position. $515,000 was paid cut during 2022 related to
the board fees of 2022, $519,000 was paid out during 2022 related to the board fees of 2021 The full amount of
$690,0C0 was recognised a5 expense during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 and is recorded in the
Consolidated income statement.
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33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Acquisition of LRBG Chernicais, Inc in Canada

On 28 August 2023 the Company announced the purchase of the assets of LRB(G Chemicals business in Canada.
LRBG Chemicals, tnc manufactures high-quality resins and derivative praducts that are used in a wide variety of
apphcations serving the building and construction, transportation, industeial and chemical intermediate markets
warldwide. lis ptants, knowledge and experience have been developed over the last 80 years and it has a customer-
driven research and development focus with strong technical knowledge and suppont, ciosely aiigned to Bakelite
Synthetics business model. it employes approximately 50 people.

The transaction closed on 31 August 2023. The aggregate purchase price will be CAD 55,000 000 i cash plus the
estimaled closing adjustment.

Page 76 of 79



Bakelite UK TopCo Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated and company financial statements L 31 December 2022

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Objectivas and policies

Tne Company's principal financial assets comprise of trade receivables and cash. The Company's principal financial
liabilities compnse of interest bearing loans, trade payables, lease liabiities and contingent consideration The main
purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Company's ongoing operations.

The main risks ansing from the Company's financial instruments are cash flow witerest rate risk, liquidity risk, and
credit risk. The Company’s approach to managing such rsks, and the nature of the Company's control envircnment is
detailed within the strategic report.

Financial instruments

Financial assets Note Group Company Group Company
2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 3000
At amortised cost:
Security deposits 3,045 - 2,085 -
t.oans to affiiates 16 1,252 - 3,371 -
Trade receivablas 21 136,448 - 98,151 -
Cash and cash equivalents 22 16,787 - 12,847 4
Total 157,532 - 116,454 4
Financial abilities Note Group Company Group Company
2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000
At amortised cost:
Interest bearing loans 23 501,495 - 172,420 -
Lease liabilities 14 12,115 - 6,229 -
Trade and other pavables 27 123,967 - 104,212 -
At fair value through profit and toss:
Contingent consideration 26 - - 12,133 -
Total 637,577 - 294,994 -

The Group and Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk (foreign exchange
risk and interest rate risk), liquidity nsk and capital risk and fair vajue risk. The Group and Company's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of the financral markets and seaks to minimise the potential
adverse effects an the Group and Company's financial perforrnance. The Group and Company do not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. Risk management is carried out by the finance team. It evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close cooperation with the Group's operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall isk management whilst the finance team provides specific policy guidance for the aperating units in terms of
managing foreign exchange risk, credit risk and cash and liquid:ty management.

Cradit nsk

Financtal instrurnents that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk are primanly accounts
receivable. Concentrations of credit risk for accounts receivable are limited due to the large number of customers in
the Group's customer base and their dispersion across many diferent industries and geographies. The Group
generally does not require collateral or other security to support customer receivables. Reference is made to note 21.
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Market risk

Market risk arises from the Group's use of interest bearing. fradable and foreign currency fnancial instruments. ki is
the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest
rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (cther price risk).

Foreigr exchange risk

The Group and Company’s presentational currency Is the US dallar although the Group operates internationally and
is exposed lo foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily between GBP, USD and the
Euro, such that the Group's cash flows are affected by fluctuations in the rate of exchange between USD and the
aforementioned foreign currencies. Fluctuations in exchange rates between the Group's functional currency of the US
Dollar and the currancy of the overseas operations could adversely impact the financial results. In most cases the
Group matches the currency receipts and expenditure of the overseas operations.

Management does not use derivative financial instruments to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange currency
exposure not mitigated by the natural hedge. The Group and Company do not speculate in foreign currencies.
The principal exchange rates used by the Group and Company in translatng overseas profits and net assets in to
USD are set outin the table below

Rate compared to USD Average Average
e o rate Yearend  rate  Yearend
2022 2022 2021 2021
IND 0.0126 0.0120 0.0134 0.0134
Euro 1.0327 1.0861 1.1684 1.3223
GBP 1.1953 1.2052 1.3704 1.3494

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting year are set out in the table below:

Exposure T 2 2021
EUR GBP UsD CAD EUR GBP UsSD

€000 £000 3000 C$000 €000 £000 $'000

Trade receivables 3.054 141 5,516 531 4,485 262 7,176
Cash and cash equivalents 1,648 - 4017 - 3,620 - 383
interest bearing loans - - - - 74,052 B 2,500
Trade payables (6.803) {27) (4,340) {14}  (9,180) (384) (6,280)
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34, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

interest rate risk

The Group is exposed lo cash fow interest rate risk from long-term borrowings at variable rate. R is currently group
policy that group borrowings (excluding short-term overdraft faciities and lease liabilities) are fixed rate borrowings.
This pclicy is managed centralty. Although the board accepts that this policy neither protects the Group entirely from
the nsk of paying rates in excess of current market rates nor eliminates fully cash flow risk associated with variability
in intarest payments, it considers that it achieves an appropriate balance of exposure to thesa risks. The Group does
nat use interest rate swaps.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the individual operating entities of the Group and 1s aggregated by Group
finance. Group finance monitors cash and cash flow forecasts and it 1s the Group and Company's liquidity risk
management policy to maintain sufficient tash and available funding through an adequate amount of cash and cash
equivalents and committed credit facilities from its bankers. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group aims to maintain flexibilty in funding by keeping sufficient cash and cash equivalents avaitable to fund the
requirements of the Group and Company.

Capital risk management

The Group and Company’s abjectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going
concem in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In order to maintain an
optimal capital structure the Group might decide to distribute dividend ko shareholders, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares.

The Group and Campany monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio 1s calculated as net debt divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings) less cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital 15 the sum of net debt or net cash plus equity.
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